

Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2012 Global Report

Siri Roland Xavier, Donna Kelley, Jacqui Kew, Mike Herrington, Arne Vorderwülbecke









Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2012 Global Report

Siri Roland Xavier, Donna Kelley, Jacqui Kew, Mike Herrington, and Arne Vorderwülbecke

Founding sponsors and Institutions:

Babson College, Babson Park, MA, United States Lead Sponsoring Institution and Founding Institution

> Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile Sponsoring Institution

Universiti Tun Abdul Razak, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Sponsoring Institution

London Business School, London, United Kingdom Founding Institution







Although GEM data were used in the preparation of this report, their interpretation and use are the sole responsibility of the authors

The authors thank Marcia Cole, Erkko Autio, Alicia Coduras-Martinez, Yana Litovsky, Niels Bosma, Miroslav Rebernik and all participating National Teams for their various contributions to this report

Copyright: Siri Roland Xavier, Donna Kelley, Jacqui Kew, Mike Herrington, Arne Vordewülbecke and the Global Entrepreneurship Research Association (GERA)

Contents

GEM	SPONSORS	
ABO	JT THE AUTHORS	5
EXEC	CUTIVE SUMMARY	6
	PTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	
1.1	The GEM Research Project	
1.2	The GEM Conceptual Model	
	The Phases of Entrepreneurship	
1.3	How GEM Measures Entrepreneurship	
1.4	GEM Methodology	
	Adult Population Survey (APS)	
	National Experts Survey (NES)	
DECI	FARCH PAREDS BY CEM SCHOLARS: Lovin L. & Autin F. 2011. Regulatory burden rule of low	
	EARCH PAPERS BY GEM SCHOLARS: Levie, J., & Autio, E. 2011. Regulatory burden, rule of law,	
	entry of strategic entrepreneurs: An international panel study. <i>Journal of Management Studies</i> ,	47
48(6): 1392-1419	
СНА	PTER 2: A GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE ON ENTREPRENEURSHIP: 2012	
2.1	Attitudes	
	Perceived Opportunities and Capabilities	
	Fear of Failure	
	Entrepreneurial Intentions	
	Societal Beliefs	
2.2	Activity	
2.2	Total Farly-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA)	26

	10(a) Early-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA)	∠0
	Business Discontinuance	27
	Necessity- and Opportunity-Driven Entrepreneurs	
	Age Distribution	
	Gender Differences	
2.3	Growth Aspirations	32
	I	

CHAPT	IER 4: ENTREPRENEURSHIP AND MIGRATION	42
	Introduction	
	Definitions	
4.3	Prevalence and Motivation of Migrant Entrepreneurial Activity across Different Groups of Economies	.44
4.4	Impacts of Migrants' Entrepreneurial Activity	. 47

RESEARCH PAPERS BY GEM SCHOLARS: Autio, E., & Acs, Z. 2010. Intellectual property protection

CONCLUSIONS	52
The Role of Entrepreneurial Attitudes	52
Entrepreneurial Activity	52
Entrepreneurial Growth and Employment Creation5	52
Framework Conditions for Entrepreneurship5	53
The Legal Framework	53
Migrant Entrepreneurship	53

RESEARCH PAPERS BY GEM SCHOLARS: Hessels, J., Grilo, I., Thurik, R., & van der Zwan, P. 2011.	
Entrepreneurial exit and entrepreneurial engagement. Journal of Evolutionary Economics, 21(3): 447-471	.54

REFERENCES	55
APPENDIX 1: TABLES OF GEM DATA	
APPENDIX 2: CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM SURVEYS	64
GEM NATIONAL TEAMS 2012	66

List of Tables

Table 2.1	GEM Economies by Geographic Region and Economic Development Level	19
Table 2.2	Entrepreneurial Attitudes and Perceptions in the GEM Countries in 2012 by Geographic Region	20
Table 2.3	Entrepreneurial Activity in the 69 GEM Countries in 2012, by Geographic Region	24
Table 3.1	Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions Valued Most Positive (+) and Most Negative (-),	
	per GEM Country and by Geographic Region 2012	38
Table 4.1	TEA-Rates of Migrants vs. Non-Migrants in World Regions	44
Table 1	Entrepreneurial Attitudes and Perceptions in the GEM Countries in 2012 by Phase of	
	Economic Development	58
Table 2	Entrepreneurial Activity in the 69 GEM Countries in 2012, by Phase of Economic Development	58
Table 3	Gender Distribution of Early-Stage Entreprepreneurs (TEA) & Necessity vs Opportunity	
	Entrepreneurship by Geographic Region, 2012	60
Table 4	Job Growth Expectations for Early-Stage Entrepreneurship Activity	62

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	The Entrepreneurship Process	.13
Figure 1.2	The GEM Model	.15
Figure 2.1	Entrepreneurial Attitude Averages by Economic Development Level	.22
Figure 2.2	Opportunity Perceptions in Nordic versus Southern European Economies, 2008-2012	.23
Figure 2.3	TEA Rates for Participating Countries in 2012, by Phase of Economic Development	.26
Figure 2.4	Reasons for Business Discontinuance across 69 Countries	.28
Figure 2.5	TEA by Age for Geographic Regions	.29
Figure 2.6	TEA by Gender for Geographic Regions	.30
Figure 2.7	Job Growth Expectations for Early-Stage Entrepreneurship Activity by Geographic Region	.32
Figure 3.1	The GEM Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions	.35
Figure 3.2	Scores on Entrepreneurship Framework Conditions Rated by National Experts, by Geographic Region	
	(Unweighted Country Averages)	.36
Figure 4.1	TEA-Rates of Migrants and Non-Migrants Across Different Stages of Economic Development	.45
Figure 4.2	Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs, who Start Up for Necessity-Motivation	
	Across Different Stages of Economic Development	.46
Figure 4.3	Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs, who Start Up for Improvement-	
	Driven Opportunity Motivation Across Different Stages of Economic Development	.47
Figure 4.4	Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs, who Intend to Create 10 or More Jobs	
	Across Different Stages of Economic Development	.48
Figure 4.5	Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs with New Product-Market Combinations	
	Across Different Stages of Economic Development	.49
Figure 4.6	Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs with Export Orientation Across Different	
	Stages of Economic Development	.50

GEM Sponsors

Babson College is a founding institution and lead sponsor of the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM). Located in Wellesley, Massachusetts, USA, Babson is recognized internationally as a leader in entrepreneurial management education. U.S. News & World Report has ranked Babson #1 in entrepreneurship education for 18 years in a row.

Babson grants B.S. degrees through its innovative undergraduate program, and offers MBA and M.S. degrees through its F. W. Olin Graduate School of Business. The School of Executive Education offers executive development programs to experienced managers worldwide. Babson's student body is globally diverse, hailing from 45 U.S. states and 57 economies (non-U.S. students comprise more than 20% of undergraduates and 40% of full-time MBA students). Students can choose from over 100 entrepreneurship courses offered each year, taught by 17 tenure or tenuretrack faculty, all with entrepreneurship experience, 7 faculty from other divisions around the college, and highly accomplished business leaders serving as adjunct faculty.

Entrepreneurial Thought and Action (ETA) is at the center of the Babson experience, where students are taught to experiment with their ideas in real-life, learning and adapting these as they leverage who and what they know to create valuable opportunities. "Entrepreneurship of All Kinds" emphasizes that entrepreneurship is crucial and applicable to organizations of all types and sizes, whether a new launched independent startup, a multigenerational family business, a social venture, or an established organization. Through an emphasis on Social, Environmental, Economic Responsibility, and Sustainability (SEERS), students learn that economic and social value creation are not mutually exclusive, but integral to each other.

Babson shares its methodology and educational model with other institutions around the world through Babson Global, and in the process brings new knowledge and opportunities back to our campus. Besides GEM, Babson has co-founded and continues to sponsor the Babson College Entrepreneurship Research Conference (BCERC), the largest academic research conference focused exclusively on entrepreneurship and the Successful Transgenerational Entrepreneurship Project (STEP) a global family business research project.

For information, visit www.babson.edu.

True to the spirit and enterprising drive of its founders, the **Universidad del Desarrollo** is today one of the top three prestigious universities in Chile. The project started 22 years ago in Conception, a southern city of Chile with 100 business administration students. Two decades later, the facts speak for themselves. Its rapid growth has become an expression of the university's main facet: entrepreneurship. The UDD MBA program is rated one of the best in Latin

America and also the best in entrepreneurship education, according to America Economia magazine, an achievement that once again represents the "entrepreneurial" seal that is embedded in the spirit of the university. Today the university has more than 12,500 undergraduates, 2,500 postgraduates and over 8,500 graduates from 24 careers that cover all areas of human knowledge. UDD also has 17 research centres in many disciplines. Over 94% of the graduating students are employed within 6 months of completing their course.

For more information visit www.udd.cl

Universiti Tun Abdul Razak (UNIRAZAK) was established on 18 December 1997 as one of the first private universities in Malaysia. The University was named after Malaysia's second Prime Minister, the late YAB Tun Abdul Razak bin Dato' Hussein, and was officially launched on 21 December 1998 by Tun Abdul Razak's eldest son, YAB Dato' Seri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak, current Prime Minister of Malaysia. UNIRAZAK recognised the imperative for Malaysia's future entrepreneurs to equip themselves with the proper tools and expertise to survive and flourish in today's modern competitive economic climate.

Thus UNIRAZAK founded The Bank Rakyat School of Business and Entrepreneurship (BRSBE) a unique school, dedicated to providing quality education in entrepreneurial and business leadership in Malaysia. BRSBE was formed with the view that entrepreneurial activity is one of the pillars of a strong and vibrant economy. Although big business is extremely vital for economic health and prosperity, a strong cadre of SMIs and SMEs is also essential to ensure a diverse economy and to provide the required support to big business companies and the community. In fact the dramatic economic development in Asia over the past two decades highlights the importance of understanding entrepreneurship in the region. In this regard UNIRAZAK through BRSBE is ideally poised to play both a national and regional role in developing entrepreneurship and meeting challenges unique to Asia.

For information visit www.unirazak.edu.my



ABOUT the Authors

Siri Roland Xavier

Siri Roland Xavier is the Associate Professor, Deputy Dean and Programme Director for Entrepreneurship at Bank Rakyat School of Business and Entrepreneurship, University Tun Abdul Razak, Malaysia. He is the National Team leader for GEM and member of STEP family business research (since 2009). He is also a board member of the Global Entrepreneurship Research Association, member of the Global Consortium for Entrepreneurship Educators, Editorial Board Member of the Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research and Reviewer of Emerald Emerging Markets Case Studies. Prior to academia he was an entrepreneur and business consultant to SMEs. He holds an LL.B (Hons), University of London, MBA and a Doctorate in Business Administration (Entrepreneurship) from the University of Newcastle, Australia. His research interests include Corporate Entrepreneurship, New Venture Development and National Entrepreneurship Development.

Donna J. Kelley

Donna Kelley is an Associate Professor of Entrepreneurship at Babson College, and holds the Frederic C. Hamilton Chair of Free Enterprise. She is a board member of the Global Entrepreneurship Research Association (GERA), and leader of the GEM U.S. team. She co-authored the 2008 GEM Korea Report, the 2008 GEM Education and Training Report, the 2010 and 2011 GEM Global Executive Reports, the 2010 GEM Global Women's Report, and the 2011 GEM U.S. Report. Donna received her Ph.D. in Management from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. Her early career involved work as a chemist and her entrepreneurship experience includes businesses in the health/fitness, computer hardware and education fields.

Jacqui Kew

Jacqui Kew is a senior lecturer in the College of Accounting at the University of Cape Town. She has been involved at the UCT Centre for Innovation and Entrepreneurship at the Graduate Scholl of Business on a consultancy basis since 2003. She has contributed to various GEM reports and has been part of the GEM South Africa team for a number of years. She is active in various small business development programs and is also involved in executive education short courses at the Graduate School of Business where she specialises in finance for non-financial managers in both corporate and small businesses

Mike Herrington

Mike Herrington is the Director of the UCT Centre for Innovation and Entrepreneurship (CIE) at the Graduate School of Business. He is a recognised entrepreneur, having started four businesses – one in New Zealand and three in South Africa. He was responsible for starting the CIE and is keenly interested in entrepreneurship and all levels of business creation. His major interests are in the areas of entrepreneurship, business planning, venture capital and the internationalisation of businesses. Mike has been leader of the GEM South Africa team since 2001. In 2010, he was appointed one of the four national team representatives on GEM's eight-member international board, and subsequently appointed (in July 2011) as the Executive Director of GEM worldwide.

Arne Vorderwülbecke

Arne Vorderwülbecke is research fellow and doctoral candidate at the Institute of Economic and Cultural Geography at Leibniz Universität Hannover (Germany). He holds a Master's degree in economic geography. Arne Vorderwülbecke joined GEM-team Germany in 2010 and contributed to several national-reports. His research interests evolve around regional effects and determinants of individual's entrepreneurial activity. In this respect he focuses on two topics: Determinants and effects of migrant entrepreneurial behavior as well as regional knowledge-and technology-transfer via university spin-off companies and academic entrepreneurship.

Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2012 Global Report



EXECUTIVE Summary

Throughout the world, shifts in population demographics, technological change, fluctuating economies and other dynamic forces have transformed societies as never before, bringing new challenges and opportunities to the forefront. Among the responses to these shifting forces is an increased emphasis on entrepreneurship by governments, organizations and the public. While entrepreneurship may not be a panacea, it can surely be part of the solution. Yet, growth for growth's sake alone is not enough. Economic growth through entrepreneurship needs to address issues of inclusiveness and ensure these efforts advance societal well-being.

The GEM study is uniquely positioned to advance understanding about entrepreneurship and facilitate decisions and initiatives that promote these endeavours. Each year, GEM provides a broad array of data on societal attitudes, participation levels of individuals at different stages of the entrepreneurship process and the characteristics of entrepreneurs and their businesses. This information can enable comparisons within and across individual economies, geographic regions, and economic development levels. With ambitious objectives, GEM aims to facilitate understanding about the influence of entrepreneurship on economic growth, and to assist in the identification of factors that encourage and/or hinder this activity. GEM provides data for researchers, knowledge on global entrepreneurship for educators and practitioners, and information to guide policy makers in formulating effective and targeted policies and programs to stimulate and support the efforts of entrepreneurs.

In the late spring and early summer of 2012, more than 198,000 adults in 69 economies took part in the GEM survey. With the largest sample to date, this group of economies represented an estimated 74% of the world's population and 87% of the world's GDP. GEM research teams in each economy administered this annual survey to at least 2,000 adults. They also polled selected national experts about the conditions influencing the nature and level of entrepreneurship in their economies. This report reveals results on GEM's annual measures and provides insights on immigrant entrepreneurship: a special topic focus in 2012.

Key Overall Findings

Attitudes

Positive attitudes about entrepreneurship in an economy can indicate the propensity for people to engage in this activity. In addition, attitudes can signify the extent to which a society may provide cultural and financial support and generate potential stakeholders that could enhance and assist the efforts of entrepreneurs. GEM measures individual perceptions about opportunities, capabilities, fear of failure, and intent to start a business. Many of the economies also included questions relating to societal beliefs about entrepreneurship as a career, and the status and media attention of entrepreneurs.

Perceived Opportunities and Capabilities

On average, individuals in Sub-Saharan African economies had high perceptions about the presence of good opportunities for starting a business in the next six months (70% of all respondents) as well as beliefs they have the skills and knowledge necessary to start a business (76%). Sub-Saharan Africa, with mostly factor-driven economies (the earliest stage of economic development), also reported high entrepreneurship rates, consistent with their positive attitudes. However, their motivations and the types of businesses in which they commonly engaged differs from the more developed economies; this highlights the value of GEM's distinctions with regard to necessity versus opportunity motives, industry participation and growth orientation.

Executive Summary



Latin America showed a much higher level on these attitude measures than the non-European Union (non-EU). Both of these regions fall primarily in the middle-stage efficiencydriven economies; this result illustrates that factors other than economic development level impact attitudes. The Asia Pacific/South Asia region, on the other hand, demonstrates that geographic factors don't completely determine attitudes. The wealthier economies in this region - Japan, Republic of Korea and Singapore - show lower than average opportunity and capability perceptions while earlier development-stage economies like China, Pakistan and Thailand were above average. Generally, though, perceived opportunities and capabilities tended to decline with greater development levels. These measures were almost twice as high in factor-driven economies than in the innovation-driven group.

Fear of Failure

Economies in Sub-Saharan Africa exhibited the lowest levels of fear of failure, with only 24% of all respondents indicating that fear of failure would prevent them from starting a business. Latin American and Caribbean economies (28%) also had low average levels on this measure. Fear of failure generally increases as one moves from early-stage to advanced development levels. Malawi (12%) displayed the lowest fear of failure rate in the sample. Greece (61%) and Italy (58%) showed the highest levels on this measure.

Entrepreneurial Intentions

The results by economic development level show that entrepreneurial intentions are highest, on average, in factordriven economies (48%), decreasing significantly in the efficiency-driven stage (26%) and again in the innovationdriven group (11%). Sub-Saharan Africa reported the highest intentions of any geographic region (53%), which is consistent with their positive perceptions about opportunities and capabilities. Favorable perceptions with respect to opportunities may not necessarily lead to intentions to start a business. However, in the Asia Pacific/South Asia region, for example, an estimated 30% of the population saw opportunities for entrepreneurship but only 17% intended to start a business in the next three years. Intentions were also low in the non-EU (18%) and EU (11%) regions.

Beliefs About Entrepreneurship

In Latin America/Caribbean, the Middle East/North Africa (MENA) and Sub-Saharan Africa regions, over threequarters of the respondents considered entrepreneurship to be a good career choice. It is notable that fewer people in Latin America/Caribbean attached high status to entrepreneurs and fewer believed there was positive media attention for this endeavor. This suggests that perhaps entrepreneurship has practical appeal but less status and visibility in many of these economies.

The EU exhibited lower levels on all three measures. Only about half the respondents agreed that entrepreneurship was a good career choice and received positive media attention, while two-thirds attributed high status to this activity. It is probable that more employment alternatives with established institutions (e.g. working for corporations or governments) could account for at least some of this result in these developed economies.

Activity

Total Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) is a key indicator of GEM. It measures the percentage of adults (aged 18–64) in an economy who are nascent and new entrepreneurs. In economies with low GDP per capita, TEA rates tend to be high, with a correspondingly higher proportion of necessity-motivated entrepreneurship. Conversely, high

GDP economies show lower levels of entrepreneurship, but a higher proportion of those with opportunity-motivations. To at least some extent then, development levels are associated with particular patterns in the level and type of entrepreneurial activity.

The highest average TEA rates were found in Sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America/Caribbean. Zambia (41%) and Ecuador (27%) reported the highest rates in these regions. The Asia Pacific/South Asia region showed a mix of TEA levels with Thailand (19%) and China (13%) recording the highest rates.

While TEA rates were typically higher than established business rates in factor-driven economies, the gap narrows in the innovation-driven economies, with some showing more established business owners than entrepreneurs. For example, Greece, Spain, Switzerland, Ireland and Finland in the EU and Japan, Republic of Korea and Taiwan in Asia show at least one-third more established business owners than entrepreneurs. When viewed geographically, non-EU and MENA regions have low rates of both TEA and established business ownership while Sub-Saharan Africa has high rates of both, although TEA rates are much higher – twice as high on average compared with established business ownership.

Differences across regions can also be seen in the reasons for business discontinuance. For example, financing was identified as the key issue in business discontinuance in Sub-Saharan Africa, but was less an issue in Asia. In the USA and the European Union, individuals cited other jobs or business opportunities more often than those in other regions as a reason for business discontinuance—these are generally considered more positive causes.

Necessity- and Opportunity-Driven Entrepreneurs

GEM defines necessity-driven entrepreneurs as those who are pushed into starting businesses because they have no other work options and need a source of income. Opportunity-motivated entrepreneurs, on the other hand, are those entering this activity primarily to pursue an opportunity. The latter are further distinguished as improvement-driven opportunity motivated if they additionally seek to improve their income or independence through entrepreneurship.

Necessity-driven motives tend to be highest in the factordriven economies. With greater economic development levels, the proportion of entrepreneurs with necessity motives generally declines, while improvement-driven opportunity increasingly accounts for a great proportion of motives. Geographic differences exist, however, even at the same economic development level. For instance, the Latin America/Caribbean region, generally containing efficiencydriven economies, reported twice as many entrepreneurs with improvement-driven opportunity motives than those with necessity motivations. In contrast, the non-EU region, also with mainly efficiency-driven economies, reported almost equal levels of either motive.

Age Distribution

Economies in all geographic regions showed bell-shaped age distributions with the highest entrepreneurship rates generally occurring among 25–34 year olds. High participation levels also occurred in the next oldest age group: 35–44 years. Together, these two age categories made up close to 50% or more of all entrepreneurs. In Chile, Republic of Korea, Singapore, Netherlands, UK and the USA, the 35–44 year olds had the highest level of participation in entrepreneurship among the age groups.

Entrepreneurship was prevalent among youth in the non-EU economies, where half of the entrepreneurs were between 18–34 years of age. China was also distinct in having a high proportion of young entrepreneurs, with 57% between 18 and 34 years of age, and less than one quarter falling into the older age groups (45–64 years). In certain economies, there was a flattening out of the bell-shaped curve, where similar participation levels were reported across all or most of the age ranges. Examples of this pattern include Palestine, Japan, Pakistan, Hungary and Bosnia/Herzegovina.

Gender Differences

GEM findings have consistently reported greater involvement in entrepreneurship among men than women in most economies. The ratio of male to female participation in earlystage entrepreneurial activity varied considerably across the sample. Participation among men and women was almost equal in most Sub-Sahara Africa economies, while men were 2.8 times as likely to start a business than women in the MENA region. In Egypt, Palestine and Republic of Korea, less than one-fifth of all entrepreneurs were women. More notably, only 5% of the entrepreneurs in Pakistan were women. The only economies where the female TEA rate was higher than that of their male counterparts was in Ecuador and Panama in Latin America, Ghana and Nigeria in Sub-Saharan Africa and Thailand in Asia.

Growth Expectations

While TEA rates indicate how many entrepreneurs there are in each economy, growth expectations represent a quality measure of this activity. Entrepreneurs differ in their growth ambitions, and this can have significant potential impact on the employment growth and competitive advantage of their economies. The non-EU, despite its low TEA rate, showed nearly a fifth of its entrepreneurs with projected growth of 20 or more employees. The USA exhibited a high proportion of 20+ growth projections in addition to a high TEA rate for an innovation-driven economy, demonstrating both the prevalence and impact of entrepreneurship. Turkey, Latvia, Singapore, China and Colombia also displayed both high TEA and high proportions of 20+ growth entrepreneurs relative to other economies in their regions.

National Experts' Survey

The National Experts' Survey (NES) provides insights from experts in each economy on nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFC): factors that can influence the climate for entrepreneurship and the level and nature of this activity. Overall, physical infrastructure was identified as a positive factor in all or nearly every economy in each region. Internal market dynamics (the level of change in markets) was cited as positive by most of the Sub-Saharan Africa, MENA, Asia Pacific/South Asia, and Non-EU economies, but less often in Latin America/Caribbean, the EU, and the USA.

Most of the Latin America/Caribbean economies rated entrepreneurship education positively for post-school training, yet most of the economies in this region, as well as all the other regions, rated this factor negatively for primary and secondary school entrepreneurship education. Entrepreneurial finance was another condition frequently cited as negative in Latin America/Caribbean. Although the other regions had comparatively fewer economies identifying finance as one of the most negative conditions, it was rarely cited as a positive factor.

Experts in the USA saw cultural and social norms as positive, while only one EU economy identified this condition favorably. Instead the EU- and non-EU regions identified commercial infrastructure as positive in most economies. The USA also rated R&D transfer positively, while most of the Sub-Saharan African economies saw this condition as negative with many of the economies in the other regions also rating this factor unfavorably.

Entrepreneurship and Migration

In 2012, GEM added questions to its survey around the special topic of international migration. With currently more than 210 million international migrants and further increases predicted within the next decade¹, migrant entrepreneurship has the potential to contribute substantially to both receiving and home economies through knowledge and information transfer, global trade, job creation and other benefits. In innovation- and factor-driven economies, migrants exhibited a higher rate of

entrepreneurship than non-migrants. The efficiency-driven economies showed the opposite pattern: a lower TEA-rate among migrants compared with non-migrants.

The results highlight the potential impact of migrant entrepreneurs, especially relative to growth orientation and international sales. The proportion of migrant entrepreneurs expecting to create 10 or more jobs was 25% in efficiency-driven economies (non-migrants 16%), 23% in factor-driven economies (non-migrants 9%) and 20% in innovation-driven economies (non-migrants 14%).

While more than half of the migrant entrepreneurs indicated they sell products and services outside their host economy, this was the case for only a third of non-migrant entrepreneurs. This pattern was similar in innovation-driven economies, with a smaller difference between migrants and non-migrants, but a higher absolute proportion of migrants selling internationally. In the factor-driven economies, however, migrants were not more likely than non-migrants to sell internationally.

Summary of Implications and Recommendations

Positive attitudes reflect entrepreneurial ambitions and societal support. They are needed at a widespread level as some economies develop and as others face periodic difficulties. The GEM results on attitudes lend merit to efforts that take the pulse of societal attitudes about entrepreneurship and promote educational and other programs that target and assess changes in attitudes, as well as skill building. In addition, attitudes and support can focus toward higher potential businesses, particularly in the factor and efficiency-driven economies.

Policies promoting societal attitude changes about women, and that train, support and encourage women entrepreneurs will promote inclusiveness and fuel economic growth. Additionally, societies can benefit from entrepreneurs of all ages, with unique orientations and resources that may include the fresh ideas, risk tolerance and technology savvy of the young, and the experience, networks and credibility that comes with maturity. Entrepreneurs of different ages, however, will likely require particular support mechanisms and programs.

The wealth of experience that comes from discontinued businesses can be recognized and leveraged as former entrepreneurs re-engage in entrepreneurial activity, perhaps even in established organizations, or support other entrepreneurs in a variety of stakeholder roles. Attention could therefore turn toward re-engaging former Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2012 Global Report



entrepreneurs, whether they have discontinued for positive or negative reasons.

A high-growth oriented approach to entrepreneurship will create jobs and, in tandem, grow economies. Broad-based efforts to improve the labor market, increase the internal market, and provide access to international markets can be more specifically addressed toward meeting the specific needs of entrepreneurs.

With unemployment and a growing youth population as a key issue in regions such as Sub-Saharan Africa, identifying and successfully implementing policies that both encourage youth to start businesses and support businesses with high employee growth expectations will be critical to creating jobs and ensuring economic growth and societal stability.

The persistent poor ratings on entrepreneurship education in primary and secondary schools in the national expert survey indicates a need for both national and global efforts to encourage this factor. With regard to other entrepreneurial framework conditions, each region has particular strengths but also areas to improve. While policies that work in one economy are not guaranteed success in others, there may be merit in studying and discussing what works (and doesn't) within and across regions.

Research using GEM data emphasizes that if an economy's government fails to enforce a strong rule of

law, the quality of entrepreneurial entries will suffer – and consequently, the economic impact of entrepreneurship will diminish. Another study suggests that intellectual property protection encourages specialisation among potential entrepreneurs and supports conditions where individuals can choose the course of action that best fits their innate strengths. These findings highlight the importance of the legal framework in developing a context in which entrepreneurship can thrive.

Finally, policy makers in receiving economies can recognize the value migrants can provide in creating jobs and globalizing the business environment. In tandem, economies of origin should make every effort to build and support connections to those that have emigrated to other parts of the world.

A key purpose of GEM is to inform academics, educators, policy makers and practitioners about the frequency and nature of entrepreneurship in and among economies worldwide. With this aim, GEM can encourage better understanding about entrepreneurship and guide decision making that can lead to better support and conditions that allow this endeavor to thrive.

 United Nations Population Division: http://esa.un.org/migration/ index.asp?panel=1

Executive Summary





1.1 The GEM Research Project

Many policy makers agree that entrepreneurs, and the new businesses they establish, play a critical role in the development and well-being of their societies. The purpose of GEM is to explore and assess the role of entrepreneurship in national economic growth. GEM defines entrepreneurship as "any attempt at new business or new venture creation, such as self-employment, a new business organisation, or the expansion of an existing business, by an individual, a team of individuals, or an established business" (Bosma, Wennekers & Amorós, 2012, p.9). GEM's individual-level, multi-phase focus enables a more comprehensive account of business activity compared with measures of formally registered businesses (i.e. GEM captures both informal and formal activity that encompasses those in the process of starting as well as those running new and established businesses).

Traditional analyses of economic development and growth have historically focused on large corporations, based on the assumption that these firms are the main drivers of economic growth in modern economies. Academics and policy makers are now increasingly appreciating and accounting for the role played by new and small businesses in the economy. GEM contributes to this recognition with a comprehensive analysis of entrepreneurial attitudes and The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) research program was initiated in 1997 as a joint venture between academics at London Business School in the UK and Babson College in the United States. From its first survey in 1999, GEM has grown into a consortium of more than 400 researchers from 99 economies over its 14 year history. In 2012, 69 economies participated GEM, providing insights in on entrepreneurship across the largest sample of economies to date, spanning a diversity of geographic regions and economic development levels.

activity across the globe. As such, GEM works toward the following objectives:

- to allow for comparisons with regard to the level and characteristics of entrepreneurial activity among different economies;
- to determine the extent to which entrepreneurial activity influences economic growth within individual economies;
- to identify factors which encourage and/or hinder entrepreneurial activity; and
- to guide the formulation of effective and targeted policies aimed at stimulating entrepreneurship.

The first GEM survey, comprising only ten developed economies, was conducted in 1999. Now, fourteen years later, GEM has measured entrepreneurship in 99 economies, and

has gained widespread recognition as the most authoritative longitudinal study of entrepreneurship in the world. In 2012, more than 198,000 people in 69 economies participated in the study, collectively representing all regions of the world and a broad range of economic development levels. Based on this survey, the GEM study covered an estimated 74% of the world's population and 87% of the world's total GDP. In addition to its annual measures of entrepreneurial attitudes and activity, GEM analyzed immigration as a special topic focus in 2012.

GEM provides a comprehensive view of entrepreneurship across the globe by measuring the attitudes of a population, and the activities and characteristics of individuals involved in various phases and types of entrepreneurial activity. Research teams in each participating economy administer an Adult Population Survey (APS) of at least 2,000 adults annually. Complementing the APS is a National Expert Survey (NES), which provides in-depth opinions from selected national experts on the factors that impact the nature and level of entrepreneurship in each economy.

1.2 The GEM Conceptual Model

The Phases of Entrepreneurship

The GEM project views entrepreneurship as a process comprising different phases, from intending to start, to just starting, to running new or established enterprises and even discontinuing a business. Given that the context and conditions that affect entrepreneurship in different economies are diverse and complex, it is not possible to conclude that one phase inevitably leads to the next. For example, an economy may have a large number of potential entrepreneurs but this may not necessarily translate into a high rate of entrepreneurial activity. Therefore, the arrows that connect the different phases are not straight lines, suggesting the tentative nature of the relationship between the different phases. The entrepreneurship process and GEM's operational definitions are illustrated in **Figure 1.1**.

GEM's conceptualization of entrepreneurship as a multiphase process is useful for assessing the state of entrepreneurship at different points. This process starts with the involvement of *potential entrepreneurs* – those individuals who believe they possess the capabilities to start businesses, who see opportunities for entrepreneurship, and who would not be dissuaded from doing so by fear of failing. For some potential entrepreneurs, their intentions to start businesses are underpinned by the perceptions society holds of entrepreneurs, the status these individuals enjoy in their society, and whether the media positively represents entrepreneurs.

The next phase is *nascent entrepreneurial activity* – i.e. those starting new enterprises less than three months old. Given the challenges associated with starting a new business, many fledgling businesses fail in the first few months, hence not all nascent entrepreneurs' progress to the next stage. New business owners are defined as those former nascent entrepreneurs who have been in business for more than three months, but less than three and a half years. Nascent and new business owners together account for the total early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) in an economy, a key measure of GEM.

Established businesses are those that have been in existence for more than three and a half years. It is important to consider both established business owners as well as entrepreneurs who have discontinued or exited businesses because these two categories represent a key resource for other entrepreneurs (for example, by providing financing, mentorship, advice or other types of support). In addition, former entrepreneurs may reenter entrepreneurship (serving as serial entrepreneurs)



Source: GEM Global Report, 2011

Figure 1.1: The Entrepreneurship Process

CHAPTER 1



or they may join established companies and enact their entrepreneurial ambitions as employees.

The GEM model, shown in Figure 1.2 (opposite), illustrates the institutional environment, the effect it has on entrepreneurship and in turn, economic development. According to this model, two sets of conditions, namely basic requirements and efficiency enhancers, impact societies more broadly as well as entrepreneurial activity within these societies. Additionally, nine entrepreneurship framework conditions influence individuals' decisions to pursue entrepreneurial initiatives and the rate and profile of entrepreneurship in different economies. This figure also acknowledges the efforts of employee entrepreneurs, those who develop and lead new business activities for their employers; this type of entrepreneurship was a special topic focus in 2011 (see 2011 GEM Global Executive Report and 2011 GEM Global Extended Report, as well as the forthcoming special report on employee entrepreneurship by Bosma et al., 2012).

GEM classifies the economies that participate in the study as factor-driven, efficiency-driven, or innovation-driven.

These categories are based on the World Economic Forum's (WEF) *Global Competitiveness Report*, which identifies three phases of economic development based on GDP per capita and the share of exports comprising primary goods.

According to the WEF classification, the *factor-driven* phase is dominated by subsistence agriculture and extraction businesses, with a heavy reliance on (unskilled) labour and natural resources. The focus of development efforts tends toward building a sufficient foundation of basic requirements.

In the *efficiency-driven* phase, an economy has become more competitive with further development accompanied by industrialisation and an increased reliance on economies of scale, with capital-intensive large organisations more dominant. This phase is generally accompanied by improved (and improving) basic requirements, and attention is then directed toward developing the efficiency enhancers.

As development advances into the *innovation-driven* phase, businesses are more knowledge-intensive, and the service sector expands. While entrepreneurship and innovation factors are more dominant in this phase, it must be noted that these conditions rely on a healthy set of basic requirements and efficiency enhancers.

1.3 How GEM Measures Entrepreneurship

GEM takes a comprehensive snapshot of entrepreneurs around the world, measuring the attitudes of a population and the activities and attributes of individuals participating in various phases of this activity. The study also considers the aspirations of these entrepreneurs regarding their businesses, along with other key features of their ventures.

The primary measure of entrepreneurship used by GEM is the Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) Index, which gauges the level of dynamic entrepreneurial activity in an economy by considering the incidence of start-up businesses (nascent entrepreneurs) and new firms (up to 3.5 years old) in the adult population (i.e. individuals aged 18–64 years).

Another important feature of GEM is the distinction it makes between different types of entrepreneurship and how these contribute to economic growth and job creation. Individuals who start businesses in response to a lack of other options for earning an income are deemed to be necessity entrepreneurs, while those who start businesses with the intention to exploit an opportunity are identified as opportunity entrepreneurs. The latter may include individuals who aim to maintain or improve their income, or to enhance their independence.

Introduction and Background





Source: GEM Global Report, 2011

Figure 1.2: The GEM Model

CHAPTER 1



1.4 GEM Methodology

One of the key purposes of GEM is to provide reliable data on entrepreneurship that will be useful in making meaningful comparisons, both internally and between economies, over time. For this reason, all participating economies make use of standard research instruments. The GEM data is gathered annually and is derived from two main sources, namely:

Adult Population Survey (APS)

Each participating economy conducts a survey of a random representative sample of at least 2,000 adults (aged 18 – 64 years). The surveys are conducted at the same time of year (generally between April and June), using a standardised questionnaire developed by the GEM consortium. The APS is generally conducted by an independent research vendor, chosen by each economy's GEM team based on the evaluation of the vendor's research proposal. The raw data is sent directly to the GEM data team for inspection and uniform statistical calculations before being made available to the participating economies.

National Experts Survey (NES)

The NES provides insights into the entrepreneurial startup environment in each economy with regard to the nine entrepreneurial framework conditions, namely:

financing

- governmental policies
- governmental programmes
- education and training
- research and development transfer
- commercial infrastructure
- internal market openness
- physical infrastructure
- cultural and social norms.

The NES sample comprises a minimum of 36 respondents, with four experts drawn from each of the entrepreneurial framework condition categories. Out of this sample, a minimum of 25% must be entrepreneurs or business owners, and 50% must be professionals.

Additional aspects such as geographical distribution, gender, the public versus private sector, and level of experience are also taken into account in selecting the sample.

In addition to the APS and NES, GEM reports also make use of standardised national data from international data sources such as the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the United Nations.

This information is used to add context to the report, and to explain the relationship between entrepreneurial activity and national economic growth.

Research Papers by GEM Scholars

Levie, J., & Autio, E. 2011. Regulatory burden, rule of law, and entry of strategic entrepreneurs: An international panel study. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(6): 1392–1419

Research Issue

Researchers have long since recognised the importance of institutional factors such as regulations of entry and the rule of law on the entry of new entrepreneurs in national economies. However, little is known about the extent to which the quality of entrepreneurial entry is affected by such factors. This is an important gap, because not all entrepreneurial entries contribute equally to economic dynamism. Indeed, the majority of new firm entries never employ more than 1-2 persons per firm, meaning that they contribute little to job creation. In most economies, it is the relatively small percentage of strategic, or highgrowth entrepreneurs who generate the bulk of new jobs attributable to new firm entries. In their study, Jonathan Levie and Erkko Autio explored the influence of two nationallevel institutional factors on high-growth entrepreneurship: regulatory burden and the rule of law.

Theory and Method

Levie and Autio drew on signalling theory to predict that regulatory burden and weak rule of law should deter the entry of high-aspiration entrepreneurs in the economy. They also predicted a joint effect – i.e., that low regulatory burden (i.e., light regulation of entry) only encourages the entry of high-aspiration entrepreneurs if the country's rule of law is strong. In other words, absence of red tape will not encourage high-aspiration entrepreneurs if entry regulations are not enforced.

Levie and Autio combined GEM data with World Bank's Governance Indicators and Ease of Doing Business datasets to conduct an economy-level panel regression test of their hypotheses. They analysed data from years 2004 to 2008, covering a total of 54 economies.

Findings

Consistent with expectations, Levie and Autio found that regulatory burden was associated with both low-growth and high-growth entrepreneurial entry rates, with lighter regulatory burden associated with greater levels of entry into entrepreneurship. They also found that in economies where regulation of entry was light, a greater proportion of new entrepreneurs expected to hire at least 20 employees within five years' time.



Importantly, rule of law moderated the above effect – but for high-aspiration entrepreneurs only. In economies where the rule of law was strong, light regulation of entry encouraged more high-aspiration entrepreneurs, both in absolute terms and as a proportion of all entrepreneurial entries. A similar effect was not observed for low-aspiration entrepreneurship.

Implications

Jonathan Levie's and Erkko Autio's study is one of the first to show that regulation of entry and rule of law matter for the quality of entrepreneurship in a given economy. This is important evidence, since, in entrepreneurship, quality matters. If entrepreneurs do not seek growth, they will not create jobs. Levie and Autio showed that policy-makers can encourage the entry of entrepreneurs by alleviating the amount of red tape that entrepreneurs have to deal with when starting their firms. However, high-aspiration entrepreneurs are also sensitive to the rule of law: if the rule of law is weak, entry regulations will still increase the number of new entrepreneurs, but fewer of these will seek growth. Therefore, if an economy's government only pretends to support entrepreneurship by making entry regulations easier but not enforcing a strong rule of law, the quality of entrepreneurial entries will suffer - and consequently, the economic impact of entrepreneurship will be diminished.

CHAPTER 2



A GLOBAL PERSPECTIVE on Entrepreneurship: 2012

2.1 Attitudes

The entrepreneurship process is a complex endeavor carried out by people living in specific cultural and social conditions. For this reason, the positive or negative perceptions that society has about entrepreneurship can strongly influence the motivations of people to enter entrepreneurship. Societies benefit from people who are able to recognise valuable business opportunities and who perceive they have the required skills to exploit them. If the economy in general has a positive attitude towards entrepreneurship, this can generate cultural and social support, financial and business assistance, and networking benefits that will encourage and facilitate potential and existing entrepreneurs.

The GEM survey includes the following indicators of attitudes about starting a business:

Individual Self-perceptions

- Awareness about good opportunities for starting a business in one's area
- Belief in one's skills and experience to start a business
- Attitude towards failure

The entrepreneurship process is a complex endeavor that is affected by many factors including the prevailing attitudes within a society, the rate of activity and the kind of opportunities available, and the growth aspirations of entrepreneurs.

Societal Impressions (Optional Survey Items)

- Whether starting a business is considered a good career choice
- Opinion about the association of entrepreneurship with high status
- Awareness of positive media attention for entrepreneurship

Since 2008, GEM Global reports have categorized the participating economies by economic development level, namely factor-, efficiency- and innovation-driven economies. Yet as GEM has continued to grow, its geographic coverage has expanded, particularly in 2012. This presents an opportunity to compare results within and across geographic regions of the world. This report will therefore analyze the findings from a geographic regional level, but will also discuss and display results by economic development level.

Table 2.1 shows the participating economies by geographic region and economic development level. Latin America and the Caribbean, as a region, comprise efficiency-driven economies. The Middle East/North Africa (MENA) contain predominantly factor-driven economies with the only exceptions of Tunisia, an efficiency-driven economy and Israel, an innovation-driven one. Sub-Saharan Africa also has mostly factor-driven economies with the only exceptions being Namibia and South Africa, both efficiency-driven economies.

on Entrepreneurship: 2012 State a clean ouljiro,skpjt.com 시행자 시공자 SKERIO SKRAG

Table 2.1: GEM Economies by Geographic Region and Economic Development Level

	Factor-Driven Economies	Efficiency-Driven Economies	Innovation-Driven Economies
Latin-America & Caribbean		Argentina, Barbados, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, El Salvador, Mexico, Panama, Peru, Trinidad & Tobago, Uruguay	
Middle East & North Africa	Algeria, Egypt, Iran, Palestine	Tunisia	Israel
Sub-Saharan Africa	Angola, Botswana, Ethiopia, Ghana, Malawi, Nigeria, Uganda, Zambia	Namibia, South Africa	
Asia Pacific & South Asia	Pakistan	China, Malaysia, Thailand	Japan, Republic of Korea, Singapore, Taiwan
European Union		Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania	Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom
Non-European Union		Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Macedonia, Russia, Turkey	Norway, Switzerland
United States			United States

The Asia Pacific and South Asia region includes a combination of all three levels of economic development levels: Pakistan in the factor-driven group, China, Malaysia and Thailand in the efficiency-driven group, and Japan, Republic of Korea, Singapore, and Taiwan in the innovation-driven group.

The European Union (EU) is predominantly innovationdriven with only six of the 22 countries in this region being classified as efficiency-driven economies. The non-European Union (non-EU) is largely efficiency-driven, with the exception of Switzerland and Norway, both innovationdriven economies. In 2012 a record number of 69 countries participated in the GEM cycle. However, the results from India and Jamaica are not included in the first release due to technical problems uncovered in the inspection by GEM's central data team. While these problems could not be resolved before the publishing deadline for this report, their information will be published later in a pdf version.

A Global Perspective

Table 2.2 shows results on entrepreneurial attitudes for the 69 participating economies, organized by geographic region. **Appendix 1**, **Table 1** shows attitudes grouped by stage of economic development and **Figure 2.1** charts averages for the three levels.

Table 2.2: Entrepreneurial Attitudes and Perceptions in the GEM Countries in 2012 by Geographic Region

Economy	Perceived opportunities	Perceived capabilities	Fear of failure*	Entrepreneurial intentions **	Entrepreneurship as a good career choice+	High status to successful entrepreneurs+	Media attention for entrepreneurship+
LATIN AMERICA	ř.	1					
Argentina	50	63	27	29	74	67	63
Barbados	47	70	17	23	-	-	-
Brazil	52	54	31	36	89	86	86
Chile	65	60	28	43	70	68	66
Colombia	72	57	32	57	89	75	69
Costa Rica	47	63	35	33	72	72	79
Ecuador	59	72	33	51	88	84	79
El Salvador	43	59	42	40	73	72	62
Mexico	45	62	26	18	56	54	38
Panama	38	43	17	12	-	-	-
Peru	57	65	30	45	77	73	76
Trinidad &							
Tobago	59	76	17	37	78	76	64
Uruguay	51	58	27	20	61	59	51
Average							
(unweighted)	53	62	28	34	75	71	67
MIDDLE EAST &	& NORTH AFRI	CA					
Algeria	46	54	35	21	79	81	47
Egypt	54	59	33	42	83	87	64
Iran	39	54	41	23	60	73	61
Israel	31	29	47	13	59	72	47
Palestine	46	59	40	36	85	80	71
Tunisia	33	62	15	22	88	94	48
Average (unweighted)	41	53	35	26	76	81	56
SUB-SAHARAN				20	10	01	50
	1	70	38	70			
Angola Botswana	66 67	72 71	25	70 72	- 76	- 73	- 79
Ethiopia	65	69	33	24	76	92	79
	65 79	86	18	60	76 84	92 91	82
Ghana	79		18				
Malawi Namibia	74	85 74	35	70 45	- 73	- 76	- 82
	75 82		21		82	76	82 78
Nigeria		88		44			
South Africa	35	39	31	12	74	74	73
Uganda	81	88	15	79	-	- 70	
Zambia	78	84	17	55	67	79	72
Average							
(unweighted)	70	76	24	53	76	80	77
ASIA PACIFIC &	1				70	70	
China	32	38	36	20	72	76	80
Japan	6	9	53	2	30	55	53
Republic of							
Korea	13	27	43	13	59	70	68
Malaysia	36	31	36	13	46	51	62
Pakistan	46	49	31	25	66	68	51

A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship: 2012

Economy	Perceived opportunities	Perceived capabilities	Fear of failure*	Entrepreneurial intentions **	Entrepreneurship as a good career choice+	High status to successful entrepreneurs+	Media attention for entrepreneurship+
Singapore	23	27	42	16	50	63	77
Taiwan	39	26	38	25	70	63	83
Thailand	45	46	50	19	76	79	84
Average							
(unweighted)	30	32	41	17	59	65	70
EUROPEAN UN	ON						
Austria	49	50	36	9	46	76	
Belgium	33	37	41	9	62	57	54
Denmark	44	31	39	7	-	-	-
Estonia	45	43	34	16	55	63	41
Finland	55	34	37	8	45	83	68
France	38	36	43	17	65	77	41
Germany	36	37	42	6	49	76	49
Greece	13	50	61	10	64	68	33
Hungary	11	40	34	13	41	74	29
Ireland	26	45	35	5	45	81	61
Italy	20	30	58	11	67	70	51
Latvia	33	44	37	22	60	53	53
Lithuania	30	40	36	18	63	53	37
Netherlands	34	42	30	9	79	65	58
Poland	20	54	43	22	68	57	56
Portugal	16	47	42	14			
Romania	37	38	41	27	71	74	55
Slovakia	18	50	38	12	50	74	59
Slovenia	20	51	27	13	53	71	51
Spain	14	50	42	11	64	64	47
Sweden	66	37	33	11	-	-	-
United							
Kingdom	33	47	36	10	50	77	47
Average							
(unweighted)	31	42	39	13	58	69	50
NON-EUROPEA	N UNION						
Bosnia and							
Herzegovina	20	49	27	22	81	72	39
Croatia	17	44	36	19	64	42	40
Macedonia	31	55	39	28	70	67	64
Norway	64	34	39	5	50	80	59
Russia	20	24	47	2	60	63	45
Switzerland	36	37	32	7	44	63	57
Turkey	40	49	30	15	67	76	57
Average (unweighted)	33	42	36	14	62	66	52
UNITED STATES		72	50	+	02	00	52
		56	20	12			
United States	43	56	32	13	-	-	-

* Fear of failure assessed for those seeing opportunities

** Intentions assessed among nonentrepreneur population

+ These questions were optional and therefore not included by all economies



* Fear of failure assessed for those seeing opportunities

- ** Intentions assessed among nonentrepreneur population
- + These questions were optional and therefore not included by all economies

Figure 2.1: Entrepreneurial Attitude Averages by Economic Development Level

Perceived Opportunities and Capabilities

The first step in the entrepreneurship process occurs when people perceive favourable business opportunities in their area. These individuals may or may not have considered becoming an entrepreneur before identifying an opportunity. People may also be encouraged by the belief they have the necessary capabilities to successfully start a venture. Yet even if they perceive opportunities and believe they have the skills necessary for entrepreneurship, fear of failure may prevent them from actually starting a business.

Figure 2.1 shows that perceived opportunities and capabilities tend to decline with greater development levels. These measures are almost twice as high in factor-driven economies, 63% and 71% respectively, than in innovation-driven economies: 31% and 36% respectively. It is important to note, however, that these perceptions may reflect different businesses one generally has in mind, showing the value of GEM measures of necessity versus opportunity motives, industry participation, growth orientation, and so forth.

On average, individuals in Sub-Saharan African countries have a very high perception about the presence of good opportunities for starting businesses in the next six months (70% of all respondents). They are also likely to believe they have the skills and knowledge necessary to start businesses (76%). Except for South Africa and Namibia, Sub-Saharan Africa consists of factor-driven economies, where entrepreneurship rates tend to be high, suggesting that people are willing to act on the opportunities they see and that they believe they are capable of starting a business.

The non-EU and Latin America, regions primarily falling in the middle-stage efficiency-driven economies, show a divide in these attitude measures, suggesting that factors other than economic development level impact attitudes. The Asia Pacific and South Asia region, on the other hand, demonstrate that geographic factors don't necessarily determine attitudes. The wealthier economies like Japan, Republic of Korea, and Singapore show lower than average opportunity and capability perceptions while earlier development-stage economies like China, Pakistan, and Thailand are above average.

The EU economies exhibit an interesting distinction between the southern and northern regions. Nordic countries (for example, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Norway and Sweden) have high opportunity perceptions, yet generally show lower than average beliefs about capabilities. Some economies in Southern Europe (for example, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Portugal and Spain), on the other hand, tend toward low perceived opportunity ratings, despite mostly above average views about capabilities.

Figure 2.2 shows a longitudinal analysis of three Nordic (Denmark, Finland, and Norway) and three Southern European (Greece, Hungary and Spain), economies that have participated in GEM in the past five years. As this figure shows, the Nordic countries have consistently higher levels of opportunity perceptions, and while Denmark and Finland showed a decline in this measure in 2009, they rebounded in 2010. In 2012, Finland and Norway were at or above their 2008 levels.

The Southern European countries show not only a consistently lower level of opportunity perceptions compared with the Nordic countries, but they have mostly showed declines. This leaves them, in 2012, at lower levels than they were in 2008. Given the continued negative impact of the financial crisis in southern Europe, the austerity measures required of these countries, and the continued debate regarding bail-out terms in this region, the low and declining opportunity perceptions in the region is unsurprising.



Figure 2.2: Opportunity Perceptions in Nordic versus Southern European Economies, 2008-2012

Fear of Failure

Risk-taking can pose considerable challenges for potential entrepreneurs. Universities and business schools around the world can generally teach the basics of entrepreneurship, boosting peoples' abilities to perceive opportunities and their skills for starting businesses. A key stumbling block, however, is one's inherent fear of failure. This can counteract the drive to start a business, even when the expected returns from entrepreneurship have better prospects than the next best alternative. People may have differing levels of fear of failure and conditions in the institutional environment, such as bankruptcy legislation, which could deter would-be entrepreneurs.

The level of fear of failure, in general, increases as one moves from early-stage to advanced development levels. Greece (61%) and Italy (58%) exhibited the highest fear of failure rates in 2012, consistent with the low reported opportunity perceptions in these economies. Malawi (12%), a factor-driven economy, showed the lowest fear of failure rate.

Across the geographic regions, fear of failure rates show less distinction than do opportunity and capability perceptions. Economies in Sub-Saharan Africa tend to show the lowest levels, with only 25% of all respondents indicating that fear of failure would prevent them from starting a business. Latin American and Caribbean economies (28%) also have low levels of this measure with one exception: El Salvador shows a relatively high rate at 42% (**Table 2.2**).

Entrepreneurial Intentions

The next stage in the entrepreneurship process takes place when a potential entrepreneur expresses the intention to start a new business in the foreseeable future. The results by economic development level show that entrepreneurial intentions are highest in factor-driven economies (48%), decreasing significantly in the efficiency-driven stage (26%) and again in the innovation-driven (11%) group.

It is important to recognise that, even though individuals have favourable perceptions with respect to business opportunities, they may not have the intentions to start a business. This is certainly the case for the Asia region, where an estimated 30% of the population see opportunities for entrepreneurship but only 17% intend to start a business in the next three years. Intentions were also low in the non-EU (18%) and EU (13%). Sub-Saharan Africa reported the highest intentions of any geographic region (53%), which is consistent with their positive perceptions about opportunities and their belief in their capabilities (**Table 2.2**).

Societal Beliefs

The last three attitude measures assess societal impressions about entrepreneurship as a career choice and whether entrepreneurs are afforded high status and receive positive media attention. These perceptions assess the visibility and attractiveness of entrepreneurship. Positive views on these measures can influence the willingness of individuals to become entrepreneurs, but also the likelihood that others in society will support their efforts, with some possibly becoming stakeholders such as investors, suppliers, customers and advisors.

In Latin America and the Caribbean, the MENA region, and Sub-Saharan Africa, over three-quarters of the respondents consider entrepreneurship a good career choice. It is notable that fewer people in Latin America and the Caribbean attach high status to entrepreneurs (71%) and believe there is positive media attention for this endeavour (67%). This suggests that perhaps entrepreneurship has practical appeal but less status and visibility in many of these economies. In Sub-Saharan Africa, on the other hand, entrepreneurship is not only considered a good career choice by over three-fourths (76%) of the respondents, but the same or greater amount see high status (80%) and positive media attention (77%) for entrepreneurs.

The EU is distinct in exhibiting low levels on all three of these measures. About half of the respondents consider entrepreneurship to be a good career choice and a similar

Table 2.3: Entrepreneurial Activity in the 69 GEM Countries in 2012, by Geographic Region

							_
Country	Nascent entrepreneurship rate	New business ownership	Early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA)	Established business ownership rate	Discontinuation of businesses	Necessity-driven (% of TEA)	Improvement-driven opportunity (% of TEA)
	CA & CARRIBE	r					
Argentina	12	7	19	10	5	35	47
Barbados	10	7	17	12	3	12	63
Brazil	4	11	15	15	5	30	59
Chile	15	8	23	8	5	17	69
Colombia	14	7	20	7	7	12	48
Costa Rica	10	5	15	3	3	20	48
Ecuador	17	12	27	19	8	36	30
El Salvador	8	8	15	9	8	35	39
Mexico	8	4	12	5	4	13	52
Panama	7	3	9	2	2	19	57
Peru	15	6	20	5	7	23	53
Trinidad &							
Tobago	9	7	15	7	5	15	60
Uruguay	10	5	15	5	5	18	40
Average				_			
(unweighted)	11	7	17	8	5	22	51
	& NORTH AFR		T -	-	I		
Algeria	2	7	9	3	7	30	47
Egypt	3	5	8	4	5	34	23
Iran	4	6	11	10	5	42	36
Israel	3	3	7	4	4	19	46
Palestine	6	4	10	3	8	42	27
Tunisia	2	2	5	4	4	35	42
Average (unweighted)	4	5	8	5	6	34	37
SUB-SAHARA	N AFRICA	<u>I</u>	1	1	1	1	1
Angola	15	19	32	9	26	24	38
Botswana	17	12	28	6	16	33	48
Ethiopia	6	9	15	10	3	20	69
Ghana	15	23	37	38	16	28	51
Malawi	18	20	36	11	29	42	43
Namibia	11	7	18	3	12	37	37
Nigeria	22	14	35	16	8	35	53
South Africa	4	3	7	2	5	32	40
Uganda	10	28	36	31	26	46	42
Zambia	27	15	41	4	20	32	46
Average							
(unweighted)	15	15	28	13	16	33	47
	& SOUTH ASIA	1					
China	5	7	13	12	4	37	39
Japan	2	2	4	6	1	21	66
Republic of							
Korea	3	4	7	10	3	35	46
Malaysia	3	4	7	7	2	13	61
Pakistan	8	3	12	4	3	53	24
Singapore	8	4	12	3	4	15	54

A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship: 2012

					L		ű	
Country	Nascent entrepreneurship rate	New business ownership	Early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA)	Established business ownership rate	Discontinuation of businesses	Necessity-driven (% of TEA)	Improvement-driven opportunity (% of TEA)	
Taiwan	3	4	8	10	6	18	43	
Thailand	9	11	19	30	3	17	67	
Average (unweighted)	5	5	10	10	3	26	50	
EUROPEAN U	EUROPEAN UNION							
Austria	7	3	10	8	4	11	38	
Belgium	3	2	5	5	2	18	62	
Denmark	3	2	5	3	1	8	71	
Estonia	9	5	14	7	4	18	49	
Finland	3	3	6	8	2	17	60	
France	4	2	5	3	2	18	59	
Germany	4	2	5	5	2	22	51	
Greece	4	3	7	12	4	30	32	
Hungary	6	4	9	8	4	31	35	
Ireland	4	2	6	8	2	28	41	
Italy	2	2	4	3	2	16	22	
Latvia	9	5	13	8	3	25	46	
Lithuania	3	4	7	8	2	25	51	
Netherlands	4	6	10	9	2	8	66	
Poland	5	5	9	6	4	41	30	
Portugal	4	4	8	6	3	18	53	
Romania	6	4	9	4	4	24	38	
Slovakia	7	4	10	6	5	36	43	
Slovenia	3	3	5	6	2	7	64	
Spain	3	2	6	9	2	26	33	
Sweden	5	2	6	5	2	7	49	
United								
Kingdom	5	4	9	6	2	18	43	
Average								
(unweighted)	5	3	8	7	3	21	47	
	NON-EUROPEAN UNION							
Bosnia and								
Herzegovina	5	3	8	6	7	58	20	
Croatia	6	2	8	3	4	34	36	
Macedonia	4	3	7	7	4	52	29	
Norway	4	3	7	6	1	7	70	
Russia	3	2	4	2	1	36	31	
Switzerland	3	3	6	8	2	18	57	
Turkey	7	5	12	9	5	31	55	
Average								
(unweighted)	4	3	7	6	4	34	43	
	UNITED STATES							
United								
States	9	4	13	9	4	21	59	

amount believe that entrepreneurs receive positive media attention. Two-thirds attribute high status to this activity. Given the high economic development level of this region, it is probable that people find other employment alternatives attractive, like work for corporations, government or other entities, where entrepreneurial activity can also take place. *Refer to the forthcoming special report by Bosma et al.* (2012) for a discussion of entrepreneurship in organizations.

2.2 Activity

Total Early-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA)

The central measure of GEM is the Total Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) rate, which consists of the percentage of individuals aged 18 – 64 years in an economy who are in the process of starting or are already running new businesses. The TEA rate therefore includes both nascent and new entrepreneurs. GEM also measures established business activity and discontinuance. **Table 2.3** shows the percentage of adults who are engaged in these different phases of entrepreneurship, as well as the percentage of entrepreneurs (TEA) that are motivated by necessity and improvement-driven opportunity. **Appendix 1**, **Table 2** shows the same information but by phase of economic development.

The highest entrepreneurship rates can be found in Sub-Saharan Africa (with Zambia the highest at 41%), and the Latin America/Caribbean regions. South Africa (7%) and Panama (9%) are the only economies in these regions with TEA rates below 10%. **Figure 2.3** shows TEA rates across the 69 economies, organised into the three economic levels and exhibited within each economic development level from the lowest to the highest TEA rates.

GEM research has consistently revealed a particular pattern in the association between GDP per capita and the level and nature of entrepreneurial activity in an economy. Bosma et al. (2008) provide a detailed explanation of this relationship in the 2008 GEM Executive Report. In economies with low GDP per capita, TEA rates tend to be high with a relatively high proportion of necessity-motivated entrepreneurship. As per capita income increases, larger established firms play an increasingly important role in the economy. This provides an option for stable employment for a growing number of people, serving as a viable alternative to starting a business. High-income economies are also characterised by a greater availability of resources and more affluent markets, which may stimulate an increase in opportunitymotivated entrepreneurship. To some extent, then, the GDP per capita of an economy allows us make predictions



Figure 2.3: TEA Rates for Participating Countries in 2012, by Phase of Economic Development

A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship: 2012

about the level and type of entrepreneurial activity likely to be prevalent in that economy.

An analysis of established business ownership rates can provide some indication about the sustainability of entrepreneurship in an economy. Businesses surviving beyond the nascent and new phases can continue to contribute to their economies, for example, with new products and services, as well as stable employment. TEA rates tend to be high in emerging economies, but established business activity is often low. The opposite pattern tends to dominate the innovation-driven economies. Two factors may contribute to this result. First, as mentioned previously, there are more employment alternatives in societies where industrialization and institutionalization have taken hold; more people may choose employment over starting businesses in the more developed economies, accounting for lower TEA rates. Second, where there are sophisticated ecosystems for business, people that do start businesses are more able to sustain them because of more favourable conditions, such as access to finance, a highly educated workforce, rule of law, and so on.

The GEM results show substantial regional differences in established business ownership rates, particularly when compared with TEA rates. The non-EU and the MENA regions have low rates of both TEA and established business ownership, while Sub-Saharan Africa has high rates of both. Sub-Saharan Africa, however, along with Latin America, have far more entrepreneurs – over twice as many – than established business owners. In Asia and the EU, there are about equal numbers in each phase.

Established business ownership rate also varies at the individual economy level within regions. For example, in Sub-Saharan Africa, Ghana has an established business ownership rate of 38%, nearly equal to its TEA rate. South Africa's established business ownership rate, on the other hand, languishes at 2%, less than a third of its TEA rate, which itself is much lower than that of its neighbours. This reveals that relatively few people are starting businesses in South Africa and even fewer are sustaining them.

Perhaps more concerning is the observation that Zambia, besides having the highest entrepreneurship rate across the entire sample, has less than one-tenth this level of established business owners, leaving questions about why so many people are entering entrepreneurship while there are rarely any running businesses beyond these early stages. With Sub-Saharan Africa facing a growing youth population, limited formal opportunities and the need for commercial stability to encourage foreign



direct investment, the high rate of entrepreneurship is a positive trend. However, there are some indicators of unsustainability, which may need particular attention.

Thailand shows the opposite effect: a relatively high TEA rate, but an even higher established business rate: the highest in the sample (30%). This pattern of high established business ownership relative to TEA is more prevalent in the innovation-driven economies, however. Greece, Spain, Switzerland, Ireland, and Finland in Europe, and Japan, the Republic of Korea and Taiwan in Asia show at least one-third more established business owners than entrepreneurs.

Business Discontinuance

The rate of business discontinuance generally declines as economic development increases. Factor-driven economies have higher levels of entrepreneurship activity, so it would make sense that this would be accompanied by more discontinuance. However, when TEA rate is taken into account, there is still a higher discontinuance rate per entrepreneur in the factor-driven economies. In the Sub-Saharan Africa and MENA regions, which show the highest and lowest regional TEA rates respectively, there are high rates of discontinuance relative to TEA in both regions.

There are a number of reasons for discontinuing a business; the most prevalent among all geographic regions relate to problems obtaining financing and the business not being profitable. Compared to other regions, problems with financing was less an issue in Asia. However, it was identified as the key issue in business stops in Sub-Saharan Africa. In the USA and EU, individuals cited other jobs or business opportunities more often than those in other regions as a reason for business discontinuance – these are generally considered more positive causes.



Figure 2.4: Reasons for Business Discontinuance Across 69 Countries

Necessity- and Opportunity-Driven Entrepreneurs

GEM recognizes that entrepreneurs may have different motivations for starting a business: in essence, they may be pushed or pulled into entrepreneurship. Some people may be pushed into starting a business because they have no other work options and need a source of income. GEM classifies these entrepreneurs as necessity-driven. Others enter this activity primarily to pursue an opportunity; they are pulled into entrepreneurship by the prospect of opportunity. GEM identifies these as opportunity–driven entrepreneurs; furthermore, these individuals may desire greater independence in their work or seek to maintain or improve their income. GEM distinguishes those that pursue independence or increased income as improvement-driven opportunity entrepreneurs.

The relative prevalence of opportunity-motivated versus necessity-motivated entrepreneurial activity can provide useful insights into the quality of early-stage entrepreneurial activity in a given economy. GEM research has consistently shown that the economic contribution of opportunity-motivated firms is higher than for necessity-driven enterprises. The *GEM 2010 Global Report* (Kelley et al., 2010) highlights a number of factors which can have a marked impact on the level of improvement-driven opportunity motivation within an economy.

In 2012, entrepreneurs in the EU were an average of 2.7 times more likely to be an improvement-driven opportunity

entrepreneur than a necessity-driven one. This ratio was around 2 to 1 in Latin America and Asia, with one exception in each region: Ecuador and Pakistan had more necessity than opportunity-driven entrepreneurs.

Entrepreneurs in Sub-Saharan Africa were, on average, 1.4 times more likely to be improvement-driven opportunity entrepreneurs. Uganda was the only economy in this region with a greater rate of necessity than improvement-driven opportunity entrepreneurs. While it is encouraging that more Sub-Saharan African entrepreneurs entered this activity out of opportunity rather than need, it should be noted that this ratio is still about half that of the USA and EU. Yet with Sub-Saharan Africa's high TEA rates, there are certainly a lot of entrepreneurs with either motive.

Entrepreneurs from the non-EU and the MENA regions were almost equally likely to have either motive. Given that TEA rates are low in both regions, it may be surmised that there is a lack of opportunity motivating people to start businesses. In other words, the problem may be less about too much push, than about not enough pull.

Age Distribution

The GEM results emphasize that entrepreneurial endeavors can be started at any time in a person's life, although this activity is mostly prevalent among those 25–34 years of age. These individuals are likely to have had some time to develop their skills and knowledge

A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship: 2012



through higher education and work experience. They may have developed networks and have access to financial resources. These resources will continue to develop with age, yet their deployment for entrepreneurship will compete with career advancement, salary increases, and other benefits associated with work as an employee, as well as the need to protect personal assets and provide for families.

Economies in all geographic regions show bell-shaped distributions with the highest entrepreneurship rates generally occurring among the 25–34 year olds. The second highest participation occurs in the next oldest age group

(35–44 years). Together, these two age categories make up close to 50% or more of all entrepreneurs. In Chile, Republic of Korea, Singapore, Netherlands, the UK and USA, the 35–44 year olds have the highest level of participation in entrepreneurship among the age groups.

Latin America/Caribbean and Sub-Saharan Africa exhibit an emphasis on older entrepreneurs, with one-third falling into the 45–64 age range. Within these regions, there is some variation, however. For example, Uganda has a high rate of youth entrepreneurs while Zambia exhibits high entrepreneurship levels among the oldest age category (54–65).



Figure 2.5: TEA by Age for Geographic Regions



Figure 2.6: TEA by Gender for Geographic Regions

Entrepreneurship is prevalent among youth in the non-EU economies, where half of the entrepreneurs are between 18–34 years of age. China is also distinct in having a high proportion of young entrepreneurs, with 57% between 18 and 34 years of age, and less than one quarter falling into the older age groups (45–64 years). In certain economies, there is a flattening out of the bell-shaped curve, where similar participation levels are reported across all or most of the age ranges. Examples of this pattern include Palestine, Japan, Pakistan, Hungary and Bosnia/Herzegovina.

Gender Differences

GEM has consistently shown that the ratio of male to female participation in early-stage entrepreneurial activity varies considerably across different economies, possibly reflecting differences in culture and customs regarding women's participation in the economy: for example, societal views about women's role in the workplace and in business more specifically. Women enter entrepreneurship for many of the same reasons as men, such as to support themselves and their families, to enrich their lives with careers as well as attain financial independence. Yet aside from different participation rates, women show marked differences from men in characteristics such as their attitudes about entrepreneurship, the industries they operate in, and their ambitions for growth, as the most recent GEM women's report shows (Kelley, et al., 2011).

Figure 2.6 shows the percentage of male and female respondents who are involved in early-stage entrepreneurship in the geographic regions. Individual results by economy, including the proportion of necessity and opportunity-driven entrepreneurs by gender, can be found in **Appendix 1**, **Table 3**. In 2012, the rates vary from almost equal participation in Sub-Sahara Africa (with the exception of South Africa, where men are **1.6** times more

likely than women to start a business) to the Middle East and North Africa where men are 2.8 times more likely to start a business than women (with the exception of Israel, where men are 1.4 times more likely than women to start a business).

In Ecuador and Panama in Latin America, and Ghana and Nigeria in Sub-Saharan Africa, as well as Thailand, there are slightly more women than men engaged in entrepreneurship. On the other hand, in Egypt, Palestine, and Republic of Korea, women compose less than onefifth of all entrepreneurs. More notably, only 5% of the entrepreneurs in Pakistan are women.

An analysis of opportunity and necessity motives shows that men in Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa are more likely opportunity-motivated, while women have higher necessity motives. This is interesting, given that these regions have fewer differences between the sexes in TEA rates. In other words, although relatively more women participate in entrepreneurship in these regions, they are more likely necessity-motivated.

In contrast, women in Asia are proportionately more likely opportunity-motivated, with men showing comparatively greater necessity motivations. With low entrepreneurship rates among women in this region, however, there are still fewer opportunity-motivated women than men entrepreneurs in the population; yet there are even fewer with necessity motives. This result may indicate that, although there are high push motives in this region, necessity drives more men than women to enter this activity.

Two regions with comparatively similar motives between the sexes can be seen in the MENA and EU regions; both also show among the highest regional-level gender disparities. While it appears that women are pushed into

A Global Perspective on Entrepreneurship: 2012





Figure 2.7: Job Growth Expectations for Early-Stage Entrepreneurship Activity by Geographic Region

entrepreneurship out of necessity more often than men in Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa, a lower sense of necessity may help account for the lower levels of female participation in Asia, MENA and the EU.

2.3 Growth Aspirations

Growth expectations are an important measure in GEM for two main reasons. First, they illustrate that not all business startup activity is the same. An economy might have a lot of entrepreneurs, but mostly those employing one or a few people while another might have fewer entrepreneurs, but with a large proportion of these pursuing high growth.

By tracking growth perceptions, GEM enhances the TEA measure of the prevalence of entrepreneurship with an indication of the differential impact entrepreneurs can have on their economies. Second, growth expectations relate to job creation potential, which is an important policy concern for nearly every government, particularly in the aftermath of the global financial crisis and the accompanying upswing in unemployment rates.

GEM asks early-stage entrepreneurs how many employees (other than the owners) they currently have and expect to have in the next five years. The difference between current and expected employees indicates growth expectations. This measure relates to the entrepreneurs' expectations about the potential for their businesses, but also about their own ambitions to grow their ventures. Stated differently, entrepreneurs may either perceive their business has high growth potential or they simply endeavor to pursue growth. **Figure 2.7** shows growth expectations as a percentage of TEA for each geographic region. Results for individual economies can be found in **Appendix 1**, **Table 4**. Three levels of growth are shown here: the proportion of entrepreneurs projecting low (0–5 new employees in five years), medium (6–19 new employees), or high (20+ new employees) growth in their businesses.

The results show that Sub-Saharan Africa generally exhibits limited growth aspirations, with 80% of the entrepreneurs indicating they expect to add less than five employees within the next five years and only 6% projecting 20 or more new jobs. This is notable, given that there are a high number of entrepreneurs in this region, and illustrating that a simple count of entrepreneurs does not tell the whole story. Overall, Sub-Saharan Africa contains a high level of employment in entrepreneurial businesses, but these take place in many enterprises with little growth prospects.

In contrast, the Non-EU, despite its low TEA rate, has nearly a fifth of its entrepreneurs projecting growth of 20 or more employees. With relatively few individuals with low growth projections entering entrepreneurship, perhaps there are conditions or attitudes that make this activity more worthwhile when there is growth potential or ambitions – or less worthwhile if one will not, or cannot, pursue growth.

The USA shows a high proportion of 20+ growth projections in addition to a high TEA rate for an innovation-driven economy, demonstrating both prevalence and impact of entrepreneurship in this economy. Turkey, Latvia, Singapore, China, and Colombia also exhibit both high TEA and high proportions of 20+ growth entrepreneurs relative to other economies in their regions.

Research Papers by GEM Scholars

Anokhin, S., & Wincent, J. 2012. Start-up rates and innovation: A cross-country examination. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 43(1): 41-60

Research Issue

It is widely believed that innovation and entrepreneurship are positively related, and that both drive economic growth. But there has been surprisingly little systematic analysis of these relationships, particularly where the contribution of entrepreneurship to innovation is concerned. Are higher start-up rates always better? More importantly, when will high start-up rates be good for innovation and economic growth? This is an important question for policy: if the economic contribution of start-up firms depends on other factors, policies to support growth through entrepreneurship may not be effective if those other factors are ignored. In their study, Sergey Anokhin and Joakim Wincent addressed this question by exploring the joint effect of economylevel start-up rates, relative wealth (GDP per capita) and R&D per capita on economy-level patents and total factor productivity (TFP).

Theory and Method

Anokhin and Wincent drew inspiration from Schumpeter's works and from more recent empirical research to form the general expectation that, overall, there should be a weak *negative* relationship between an economy's start-up rates and innovation. They also hypothesised that an economy's development stage moderates this relationship, such that in 'innovation-driven' economies, this relationship should be positive. To test these hypotheses, they combined GEM data with World Bank's World Development Indicators, Penn World Table, Heritage Foundation and the World Health Organization. Total Factor Productivity they computed using Data Envelopment Analysis. Panel regression was used to test the hypotheses.

Findings

Consistent with their hypotheses, Anokhin and Wincent found that an economy's Total Early-Stage Entrepreneurship rate was weakly and negatively associated with both patenting rate and Total Factor Productivity (TFP), even when controlling for GDP per capita. Interestingly, they also found that in innovation-driven economies, startup rate was positively associated with both patenting rate and TFP. They also found the same relationship in economies with a high GDP per capita. Furthermore, when an economy's per-capita R&D investment was high, startup activity contributed positively both to patenting rates and TFP.



Implications

Anokhin and Wincent's study again confirms that the quality and impact of entrepreneurial activity can vary significantly across economies. In other words, higher start-up rates only contribute positively towards economy-level innovation and Total Factor Productivity when the right framework conditions are in place. Specifically, if an economy does not invest in R&D and innovation, entrepreneurs will have little scope of acting as 'agents of creative destruction' by exploiting technological advances created by research. It is possible that this association is driven by both resource and selection effects. The resource effect means that if a economy invests in R&D, there will be advances for entrepreneurs to exploit. The selection effect means that in high-income, innovation-driven economies, there will be more qualified, high-potential entrepreneurs around to start new businesses. The findings also underscore the important point that policy investments in new firm creation alone will not advance economic growth unless accompanied with investments in education and innovation in general. Entrepreneurship can support economic growth, but only as part of a broader policy toolset.

CHAPTER 3



fundamentals that are required for a well-functioning business environment and will facilitate innovation and entrepreneurship in society.

GEM EXPERTS' Assessment of the National Entrepreneurial Environments

The GEM model (**Figure 1.1**) illustrates the relevant national conditions that impact on economic development and activity more generally, and those facilitating innovation and entrepreneurship more specifically in a society. Three sets of framework conditions are expected to concern public and policy makers at different stages of development.

The basic requirements, namely a country's macroeconomic stability, institutions, infrastructure, health and primary education, are the underlying fundamental conditions required for a well-functioning business environment. These requirements are usually the focus of development efforts in factor-driven countries. As these factors become relatively established, and the economy moves toward the efficiency stage, more funding and development efforts should focus on the efficiency enhancers. These factors include higher education and training, goods and labour market efficiency, financial market sophistication, technological readiness and market size. The model then looks at factors that are aimed at stimulating and supporting innovation and entrepreneurial activity. The features that are expected to have a significant impact on the entrepreneurial sector are captured in the nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs) and are

illustrated and described in Figure 3.1. The National Experts' Survey (NES) provides insights into the ways in which these EFCs either foster or constrain an entrepreneurial climate, activity and development. In order to assess the national conditions influencing entrepreneurial activity at least 36 experts in each country complete a closed questionnaire on factors relating to our entrepreneurial environment. The responses are measured on a 5-point Likert scale where a score of 1=completely false and 5=completely true. The statements are phrased so that a score of 4 or 5 would indicate that the expert regarded the factor as positive for entrepreneurship, while a score of 1 or 2 would indicate that the expert regarded the factor as negative for entrepreneurship. Figure 3.2 provides an overview of the rankings for the entrepreneurial framework conditions by the national experts by geographic regions.

Figure 3.2 shows the conditions by geographic regions. It should be noted that three of the conditions (education, national policy, and internal markets) each contain two subconditions, and these are broken out in **Figure 1.2**. Education includes primary/secondary school and post school training. National policy contains both general policy and regulatory policy. Internal markets refers to both

GEM Experts' Assessment of the National Entrepreneurial Environments



Entrepreneurial Finance The availability of financial resources, equity, and debt, for new and growing firms, including grants and subsidies.	Government Policy The extent to which government policies, such as taxes or regulations) are either size- neutral or encourage new and growing firms.	Government Entrepreneurship Programs The extent to which taxes or regu- lations are either size-neutral or encourage new and growing firms.
Entrepreneurial Education The extent to which training in creating/ managing new, small or growing business entities is incorporated within the education and training system at all levels. There are two sub-divisions – primary and secondary school entrepreneurship education and training; and post- school entrepreneurship education and training.	R&D Transfer The extent to which national research and development will lead to new commercial opportunities, and whether or not these are available for new, small and growing firms.	Commercial and Legal Infrastructure The presence of commercial, accounting and other legal services and institutions that allow or promote the emergence of small, new and growing business entities.
Entry Regulations There are two sub-divisions – market dynamics, i.e. the extent to which markets change dramatically from year to year; and market openness, i.e. the extent to which new firms are free to enter existing markets.	Physical Infrastructure Ease of access to available physical resources – communication, utilities, transportation, land or space – at a price that does not discriminate against new, small or growing firms.	Cultural and Social Norms The extent to which existing social and cultural norms encourage, or do not discourage, individual actions that might lead to new ways of conducting business or economic activities which might, in turn, lead to greater dispersion in personal wealth and income.

Figure 3.1: The GEM Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions
dynamics (the level of change in markets from year to year) and openness (the extent to which new firms are free to enter existing markets).

The entrepreneurial framework condition Physical Infrastructure refers to the presence of and access to available physical resources e.g. communication, utilities, transportation, land or space, at a price that does not discriminate against new, small or growing firms. Physical infrastructure gets an average ranking above 4 in the USA and Asia Pacific and South Asia, with 23 nations reporting evaluations of 4 or more points for these criteria. Physical infrastructure is also rated highest in the remaining regions, other than Sub-Saharan Africa where it has an average ranking of 3 (second highest ranking after internal market dynamics). Angola has the lowest ranking with respect to physical infrastructure, and, as the country has recently emerged from a lengthy civil war, the lack of physical infrastructure is unsurprising. As Angola is a factor-driven country, physical infrastructure is a basic requirement that should enjoy government focus. Angola is one of only four countries that did not consider physical infrastructure to be one of the three most positive areas that encourage entrepreneurship in the country (Table 3.1). Switzerland had the highest ranking for physical infrastructure.

The entrepreneurial framework condition Education and Training relates to the extent to which entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial qualities receive attention in all phases of the educational and training system. The variable primary and secondary education is ranked lowest by five out of the six regions (Figure 3.2), with only Sub-Saharan Africa scoring R&D transfer lower than primary and secondary education. Thirty countries (43.47%) participating in the 2012 GEM surveys scored primary and secondary education below 2. The Netherlands (3.07) is the only country with a score for this item above 3. The Middle East and North Africa provided the lowest score for primary and secondary education. Experts, when asked to rate whether they believed that the population in their country had the skills and knowledge to start a business, were more critical than the population. This evaluation is consequent with the experts' perception about education and training. Experts in 67 countries scored under 3 with only Israel and the Netherlands obtaining scores over 3. Experts in Japan were the least positive about whether the population in their country had the skills and knowledge to start a business.

The Research and Development framework condition refers to the extent to which national research and development will lead to new commercial opportunities and whether or not these are available for new, small, and growing firms. Research and Development scores below 3 in all six geographic regions (**Figure 3.2**) and there are 12 countries scoring under 2 points. Sub-Saharan Africa is the region with the lowest average score (1.99) and Angola is the country with the lowest individual score. Angola is hampered by small numbers of researchers and the national expenditure on R&D will need to increase. The low ranking with respect to maths and science education, as indicated by the Global



Figure 3.2: Scores on Entrepreneurship Framework Conditions Rated by National Experts, by Geographic Region (Unweighted Country Averages)

GEM Experts' Assessment of the National Entrepreneurial Environments



Competitiveness Index and the share of the labor force that is involved in scientific and technological areas is a cause of concern. Switzerland (the country with the highest score) and Netherlands were the only countries with scores above 3.

The Financial Support framework condition describes the supply and demand of financial resources, especially for new and expanding businesses. While the score for finance was below 3 for all regions, financing for entrepreneurs was not the lowest ranked criteria in any of the geographical regions. Financing for entrepreneurs is less negatively viewed in the Middle East and North Africa as well as Asia Pacific & South Asia as it does not appear as the top five lowest ranked framework conditions. Experts in Belgium, Switzerland, Malaysia, Singapore, India and Algeria were relatively positive in their assessment of financing for entrepreneurs. Nations such as Greece and Spain that have been severely affected by the financial crisis have scores for this variable, for the 2012 year, that are below the average of the developing nations. Greece shows the worst evaluation of GEM 2012 with an average score of 1.65 for this variable. This impact on the average for the European Union could, in part, explain the low ranking for finance for entrepreneurs in the region.

The Government Policy entrepreneurial framework condition relates to the extent to which government policies seen, as a whole, influence new and growing firm. This includes the tax regime, labor market regulation, social security legislation as well as regulations and schemes that specifically aim at the small business sector. With respect to the government support in general and the priority given to entrepreneurial development, Greece (1.59) had the lowest score, which decreased the average for the European Union. Experts, in a number of countries, felt that there was insufficient focus, on a national level, on entrepreneurial development and that many policies still benefitted large businesses. A key concern in a number of countries was that there are limited mechanisms to ensure that sufficient monitoring and benchmarking of the progress and effect of entrepreneurship and SME policies takes place. The emphasis should be on creating an enabling environment for entrepreneurial concerns, with an efficient government bureaucracy and a reduction in red tape. Experts in a number of countries, from all geographical regions believed that the national policy, in general, offered support for entrepreneurs. These countries include Ethiopia, Switzerland, France, Finland Singapore, Tunisia, Algeria, Republic of Korea, Malaysia and Colombia. With respect to government policies for example taxes and bureaucracy, there is a range of scores from Argentina with the lowest score (1.49) to Singapore that scores above 4. Experts in countries such as Switzerland, Finland, The Netherlands, Estonia and Tunisia also rate this variable positively (above 3).

The Government Programs framework condition relates to the presence of programs (at national and regional levels) and other initiatives to support new and growing firms. A number of countries in the Middle East and North Africa report low scores, with Iran, Egypt and Palestine all with scores of below 2. Greece is the only country in the European Union with a low score (under 2), while a number of countries in the European Union namely France, Germany, Austria, Ireland and the Netherlands all show positive scores of above 3. Experts in Switzerland, Singapore and Malaysia also rate the presence of programs and other initiatives to support new and growing firms positively i.e. an average score above 3.

Table 3.1: Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions Valued Most Positive (+) and Most Negative (-), per GEM Country and by Geographic Region 2012

SC	ALE:	FRO (+)	M (–)	то	1 Financo Programs											
1	2	3	4	5	Transfer, Opennes	6 Con	nmercia	I Infrast	ructure,	7a Inte	rnal Ma	rket – D	ynamics			arket –
					1	2a	2b	3	4a	4b	5	6		7b	8	9
SUE	B-SAH	HARA	N AF	RICA		20	20		14	10			10	10	0	
Ang					+			-	_				+	-		+
_	swan	а					_		-		_	+	+			+
Ethi		<u> </u>			_	+			-		-		+		+	
Gha					_		-				-		+		+	+
Mal					_					+	_	+	+			
-	nibia					_				+	_				+	+
Nige						_					_		+		+	+
	th Af	rica										+	+		+	· ·
Uga		nca										+			+	+
Zan						_						+	+		+	
		FAS.	ΓΔΝΓ		RTH AFRI	CΔ						· ·	•		1	
Alge		LAJ								+			+		+	
Egy						-			-	т ^т .	-	+	+		+	
<u>∟gy</u> Iran									-	-	-	+	+		+	
Isra							-	-	-			+			+	+
						-	-		-			+				T
	estine	<u> </u>				+		-	-			<u>т</u>	++	-	++	
Tuni		MERI	CA 8	CAR	IBBEAN			-					-	-	- T	-
	entina								_				+		+	+
	bado					_				+		+	+			
Braz		5				_							+		+	+
	ombia					+				+					+	· ·
	ta Ri					•				+			+		+	
Chil		ca				+	_			+					+	
	e ador					+				+					+	
	alvad					-	-			+					+	+
	aica									+					+	+
Mex						_	-			+					+	+
-	ama						-		-	+	-		+		+	
Peru					-					+					+	+
		& Tol	າລແບ				_			+		+			+	
	guay		Jugo			_	_			+		+	_		+	
		CIFIC	501		SIA				_	T			-		T	
Chir								_	-				+		+	+
Indi								-	-				+		+	+
Japa							-		-		-		+	+	+	
		Of K	orea			+	-		-				+	т	+	
	aysia		ored		- +	т			-				+	-	+	
	aysia istan						-	-	-		-	+	+		+	
	gapor					-	+	+	-			<u>т</u>			+	
Taiw		C						Ŧ	-		-			-	+	+
	iland					-			-		-		+		+	+
											-		+	-	+	+
	nia 8			TOIN		1							,			
						-					-	+	++	-	++	
Croa						-	-		-							
wac	cedor	пд			-				-			+	+	-	+	

GEM Experts' Assessment of the National Entrepreneurial Environments

	· · ·		r	r	1	r	r	1			,	
Norway	-	-				+		+		-	+	
Russia	-			-			-	+	+		+	
Switzerland	-				-		+	+	-		+	
Turkey	-				-		-		+		+	+
EUROPEAN UNION												
Austria				+	-			+	-		+	-
Belgium			-		-			+		+	+	-
Denmark	-	-		+			-	+			+	
Estonia		-	+		-	-			+		+	
Finland	-		+		-		-		+		+	
France		+		+	-		-				+	-
Germany				+	-		-	+			+	-
Greece	-	-			-			+	+		+	
Hungary		-	-		-			+	+		+	
Ireland	-			+	-			+	-		+	
Italy			-	-	-			+	+		+	
Latvia			-				-	+	-		+	+
Lithuania			-		-			+	+	-	+	
Netherlands	-	-					+	-	+		+	
Poland			-		-		-	+				+
Portugal		-	-	+	-			+			+	
Romania	-	+	-		-				+		+	
Slovakia		-			-	-		+		+	+	
Slovenia		-	-		-			+	+		+	
Spain	-			+	-		-	+			+	
Sweden				+	-	-	-		+		+	
United Kingdom	-			-	-		+	+			+	
UNITED STATES												
USA			-	-	-		+				+	+

Table 3.1 identifies the three EFCs with the lowest scores as well as the three with the highest scores for each country that participated in the 2012 national experts' survey.

Two entrepreneurship framework conditions stand out for their high ratings in both Sub-Saharan Africa and MENA: (1) Internal Market Dynamics and (2) Physical Infrastructure. Physical Infrastructure received high ratings throughout the six geographic regions with only five countries not rating it as one of the three framework conditions rated most positively. This is a positive finding as infrastructure is a basic requirement and once the basic requirements are in place, countries are able to focus on other requirements that enable entrepreneurial activity. Latin America and the Caribbean also rated post-school education highly. Commercial Infrastructure and Internal Market Dynamics are rated highly throughout Europe.

Primary and Secondary Education was rated as one of the three most negative framework conditions by the majority of countries throughout all geographic regions. Entrepreneurial Finance was also rated poorly; however, this condition has some interesting geographic variation with no countries in the MENA region and almost all countries in Latin America



and the Caribbean rating this poorly. Malaysia and Angola in contrast rated Entrepreneurial Finance as one of the three most positive conditions.

Research Papers by GEM Scholars

Bowen, H. P., & De Clercq, D. 2008. Institutional Context and the Allocation of Entrepreneurial Effort. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 39(1): 1–21 Research Issue



William J. Baumol famously hypothesised that the level of entrepreneurial effort actually does not vary much across economies; only the forms that this effort takes do. Depending on an economy's institutional context, Baumol asserted, entrepreneurial effort in an economy may turn productive, unproductive or even destructive. A corollary of this assertion is that it is not the supply of entrepreneurs that constitutes the key bottleneck to economic dynamism, but rather, the activities to which entrepreneurial individuals channel their effort. Rather than obsessing about the supply of entrepreneurs, therefore, policy-makers need to address the institutional conditions that regulate the allocation of this effort. However, although Baumol's hypothesis is widely known, it has rarely been tested empirically. In their study, Harry Bowen and Dirk De Clercq used GEM data to test whether the forms of entrepreneurial effort respond to policy-addressable institutional conditions that prevail in the economy.

Theory and Method

Bowen and De Clercq drew on Baumol's theory and on instutitional economics to derive hypotheses on the effect of the extent of an economy's financial capital targeted at entrepreneurship; an economy's human capital; regulatory protection; regulatory complexity; and the level of corruption on the rate of high-aspiration entrepreneurial entries in the economy. To test their hypotheses, they combined GEM adult-population and expert questionnaire survey data with World Economic Forum's executive survey data to form a database that covered 40 economies during years 2002 to 2004 (economy-level averages were used over the period). To analyse their data, they used a grouped data Logit model, which simulated individual-level data consistent with observed economy-level prevalence rates.

Findings

Bowen and De Clercq found that the availability of financial capital for entrepreneurs in an economy was positively associated with high-growth entrepreneurship, when a number of intervening variables were controlled for. They also found the quality of human capital associated with high-growth entrepreneurship. As expected, the level of corruption hindered entry into high-growth entrepreneurship. Bowen and De Clercq did not find statistically significant influences for the economy's level of regulatory protection or regulatory complexity.

Implications

Bowen and De Clercq's study adds to the increasing body of evidence that economy-level institutional factors regulate the quality and allocation of entrepreneurial effort in the economy, and therefore, indirectly, the economy's economic dynamism. Although Bowen and De Clercq did not provide a direct test of the Baumol hypothesis that the quality of entrepreneurial efforts varies more than its overall level, their study provides clues for policy-makers on how to facilitate the kind of entrepreneurial activity that is most likely to contribute to economic dynamism. Importantly, all of the institutional influences identified by Bowen and De Clercq can be addressed by policy. Numerous programs already aim at increasing the availability of financial capital (both public and private) for entrepreneurial ventures. It is also relatively straightforward to increase the provision of education and training that is relevant for entrepreneurship. Although addressing the level of corruption is a great deal more challenging, this study provides yet another reminder of the deleterious effect of corruption on economic development.

GEM Experts' Assessment of the National Entrepreneurial Environments



CHAPTER 4



ENTREPRENEURSHIP and Migration

by Arne Vorderwülbecke

4.1 Introduction

International migration is a key contributor to globalization in cultures and in business. Today there are more than 210 million international migrants worldwide and the long-term trend indicates a further increase within the next decades. Since the year 2000 alone, the number of international migrants increased by 50 million¹.

An important area of debate on the socio-economic effects of migration, and on the implementation of corresponding strategies, centers around the labor-market. In economies with large numbers of immigrants, this debate focuses on facilitating the economic and social integration of the migrant population as well as on regulations to ease the migration-related pressure on the labor-market. In particular, the inflow of highly-qualified migrants is considered beneficial in many recipient economies to the extent it alleviates a shortage of skilled labor.

On the other hand, for economies of origin, emigration is usually associated with negative development prospects regarding the selectivity of migration. In many emigration economies, the outflow of highly-qualified persons raises concerns about a "brain-drain" and the loss of development included a special focus on the topic of international migration and its impact on entrepreneurship.

potential. However, in the past decade emigration has also been related to positive effects in economies of origin. In this respect, social ties of migrants to their community of origin, financial remittances and return migration potentially induce economic development.

Discussions on the labor-market issues of migration usually view migrants as dependently-employed, which is arguably the typical case. Only recently has the potential selfemployment of migrants been considered a vehicle for their socio-economic integration and a catalyst for economic growth. In this respect, empirical evidence from a number of economies suggests that migrants differ from the nonmigrant population in their prevalence for entrepreneurial activity, their attitudes toward self-employment as well as their motivation for starting a firm. Furthermore, studies reveal that these firms differ in characteristics such as market segments, growth orientation and innovativeness (see for example Constant and Zimmermann 2006, De La Vega et al. 2008, Coduras 2008, Irastorza and Pena 2007, Light 1984, Brixy et al. 2010).

Examples of migrant-founded companies include Google, Ebay and Sun Microsystems. In the United States, migrant entrepreneurs account for more than a half million jobs (Drew Hohn et al. 2012). This is a clear indication of the positive impact that migrants can have on a recipient economy; by starting up businesses, they contribute to employment growth and innovation. However, the effects of migrant entrepreneurship are not confined to recipient economies.

Entrepreneurship and Migration



Economies of origin are also likely to be positively affected by their diasporas' entrepreneurial activity – at least in the long term. Migrant entrepreneurs often maintain strong social ties to their homeland community, with positive benefits such as the transfer of business and technological know-how, information exchange and remittances. Particularly in less developed economies, returning migrant entrepreneurs may be better equipped to overcome obstacles and start businesses. This phenomenon is observable in economies such as Taiwan, China, Republic of Korea, India and Israel (Saxenian 2006).

The distinctiveness of migrants' entrepreneurial propensity can be explained by considering both internal characteristics of the individual migrant, as well as the external environment of the host economy he/she operates in (Kloosterman et al. 1999). Following this line of argument, migrants can perceive and seek entrepreneurial opportunities through specific sets of resources and personality-traits (Kloosterman/Rath 2001, Kloosterman 2010). These are a consequence of at least three aspects. First, immigration occurs in a highly selective manner, which leads to differing demographic and socio-economic structures among indigenous and migrant populations (Levie 2007, OECD 2010). Second, the decision to leave one's economy of birth correlates with personalitycharacteristic such as locus of control, self-efficacy and risk-averseness - which are also believed to have a positive effect on a person's likelihood to become engaged in entrepreneurial activity. Third, entrepreneurial attitudes are highly influenced by cultural heritage, which is likely to be different in migrants' homelands (Sahin et al. 2007).

Migrants are also embedded in the economic, social, institutional and cultural environment of their host economy, which influences both their entrepreneurial propensity as well as the realization of their entrepreneurial intentions (Kloosterman and Rath 2001). Formal and informal discrimination or stereotyping (e.g. in the form of regulations), a lack of information about the labor-market, or language and cultural barriers may limit employment opportunities and may push less-educated migrants into self-employment. For similar reasons, migrants intending to start a business face difficulties when dealing with institutions, investors (such as banks) potential customers, and other stakeholders, which can diminish their chances of success.

Empirical evidence on the entrepreneurial behavior and attitudes of migrants has primarily been limited to case studies of single economies (e.g. Drew Hohn et al. 2012 for the US, Levie and Hart 2009 for the UK, De La Vega et al. 2008 and Irastorza and Pena 2007 for Spain, Brixy et al. 2011 for Germany) and the comparison of a small number of economies (e.g. OECD 2010).

In 2012, the GEM survey included a special set of questions on migration, providing evidence on the entrepreneurial activities and motivations of migrants from 69 economies. The analysis specifically considers the impact of migrants' entrepreneurial activity on the economies in which they operate (ie, growth-, innovation- and internationalizationorientation).

4.2 Definitions

This chapter applies two different definitions of migrants. First generation migrants include individuals that were born outside the economy in which they now reside and have assumedly experienced migration themselves. Secondgeneration migrants are individuals whose mother and/or father were born outside the economy in which they now reside. It is assumed that their affiliations with their migrant communities exert influence on their entrepreneurial behavior and attitudes.

Entrepreneurial behavior, attitudes and motivations do not solely depend on the personality characteristics of a migrant, but are strongly shaped by the context of the recipient economy, which can be impacted, at least in part, by both geographic and economic development-level factors. This chapter is therefore based on an aggregation of economies by geographic location (USA, EU, non-EU, Asia, South and Central America, MENA, Sub-Saharan Africa) and stages of economic development (Innovation-, Efficiency- and Factordriven economies). Additionally, limited sample sizes from only one year's survey do not allow for accurate estimates of migrants' entrepreneurial activity across single economies; aggregating data thus helps ensure robust results.

In many economies the migrant population is extremely heterogeneous with regard to the motives and circumstances of their migration decisions (e.g. environmental, political, economic, cultural and educational migration), the demographic and socio-economic characteristics of the migrants (age, gender, qualification, etc.) and the presumable duration of stay in the host economy. In order to account for these variations, this chapter considers origin as one dimension of heterogeneity. To ensure accuracy of the estimates, economies of origin (first-generation migrants) and the parents' economies of origin (second-generation migrants) are also aggregated by economic development phase.

4.3 Prevalence and Motivation of Migrant Entrepreneurial Activity Across Different Groups of Economies

Table 4.1 presents the prevalence of entrepreneurial activity (defined as total early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) among the adult population) of migrants compared to the non-migrant population in different geographic regions of the world. The first observation is that the prevalence of entrepreneurial activity of both first and second-generation migrants varies widely across world regions. The pattern is very similar to TEA rates among the non-migrant population, where the South and Central American and Sub-Saharan African economies exhibit the highest rates and the Western European economies the lowest rates. These variations suggest that the entrepreneurial framework conditions in each world region, such as economic, institutional and cultural circumstances, have a similar impact on the entrepreneurial propensity of both migrants and nonmigrants.

The second observation is that the world regions show distinct variation in migrants' entrepreneurial prevalence relative to the non-migrant population. In most regions firstgeneration migrants are more active in business start-ups than non-migrants. The only exceptions are Eastern Europe (including Russia), where there are no such differences, and South and Central America, where first generation migrants exhibit lower prevalence of entrepreneurial activity than non-migrants.

With respect to second-generation migrants, **Table 4.1** reveals that the prevalence of migrant versus non-migrant entrepreneurs varies more across the world regions than does first-generation migrants entrepreneurship. In the USA and Asia for instance, first-generation migrants exhibit higher TEA-rates than non-migrants, while second-generation migrants display very similar rates to the non-

	1st Ger	neration	2nd Ger	neration	Migrants
WORLD REGION	TEA-rate	% of all	TEA-rate	% of all	TEA-rate
USA	16,4%	11,7%	12,3%	15,9%	12,9%
Western Europe (with Israel)	8,2%	10,7%	7,9%	16,1%	6,1%
Eastern Europe, Russia	8,0%	4,7%	9,9%	13,3%	8,2%
Asia	11,7%	3,9%	9,8%	7,5%	9,4%
South and Central America	17,1%	1,5%	17,5%	3,5%	18,8%
MENA	10,6%	1,4%	12,3%	4,2%	9,3%
Sub-Saharan Africa	31,3%	1,8%	30,4%	3,5%	26,8%

Table 4.1: TEA-rates of Migrants vs. Non-Migrants in World Regions



Figure 4.1: TEA-rates of Migrants and Non-Migrants Across Different Stages of Economic Development

migrant population. On the other hand, in Western Europe, Eastern Europe, and MENA, second generation migrants are more active in business start-ups than non-migrants. This is particularly interesting in the case of Eastern Europe and MENA, where entrepreneurship levels of second-generation migrants even exceeds that of first-generation migrants. This comparison of first and second-generation migrant entrepreneurship suggests that both immigration itself and one's affiliation to a migrant community are associated with distinct entrepreneurial behavior.

The third observation is that migrants' contribution to overall entrepreneurial activity differs widely across world regions. In the USA and Western Europe, as many as one tenth of entrepreneurs are first-generation migrants and more than one-seventh are second generation migrants. Conversely, in South and Central America, the MENA-states and Sub-Saharan Africa, migrants play a minor role in overall entrepreneurial activity. This pattern reflects the different population composition of the regions, whereas the USA and Western Europe have a higher share of migrants in their population than, for example, South and Central America or Asia.

Figure 4.1 presents TEA-rates of migrants and nonmigrants in innovation-, efficiency-, and factor-driven economies. The prevalence of migrant entrepreneurial activity across development stages mirrors that of nonmigrant involvement in entrepreneurship. In factor-driven economies, both first and second-generation migrants are more active in business start-ups than in efficiencydriven economies, while innovation-driven economies exhibit the lowest entrepreneurial involvement of migrants. This pattern emphasizes that entrepreneurial framework conditions common to particular development stages influence the prevalence of both migrant and non-migrant entrepreneurship similarly.

Figure 4.1 reveals that, in innovation- and factor-driven economies, both first and second-generation migrants exhibit a higher rate of entrepreneurship than non-migrants. The efficiency-driven economies show the opposite pattern: a lower TEA-rate among first-generation migrants compared with non-migrants. In innovation-driven economies, more than one-tenth of new businesses are founded by first generation migrants and more than one-seventh by a second generation migrant. In contrast, in efficiency- and even more so in factor-driven economies, migrants' contribution to overall entrepreneurial activity is relatively small.

Individuals decide to become self-employed for different motivations. As mentioned earlier in this report, GEM captures individual drivers for starting a business and differentiates between necessity- and opportunity-driven motives. The former relates to individuals who start businesses because



Figure 4.2: Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs, who Start Up for Necessity-Motivation Across Different Stages of Economic Development

there were no other options for work, while the latter includes entrepreneurs who start their business after identifying an opportunity. One potential explanation for migrants' distinctiveness regarding entrepreneurial activity in various world regions is that it is more difficult for them to take up regular dependent employment.

Following this line of argument, migrants' higher prevalence towards entrepreneurship compared to non-migrants in innovation- and factor-driven economies is likely to result from constraints faced in the host economies' labor markets – presumably due to such conditions as language or cultural barriers, a lack of accredited educational and training qualifications, formal and informal regulations, or even outright discrimination; this, in turn, pushes them into self-employment. Perhaps, then, in efficiency-driven economies, migrants' lower entrepreneurial activities may be a consequence of better job opportunities compared to the other development levels.

An analysis of necessity-motivated entrepreneurship between migrants (both first and second generation) and non-migrants, however, fails to support the above argument, at least across the aggregate level of economic development stages (compare **figure 4.2**). The proportion of necessity-entrepreneurship of migrants across the three development-stages is relatively similar to that of non-migrants.

GEM's measure of improvement-driven opportunity (IDO) entrepreneurship includes individuals who start

businesses to pursue an opportunity and to increase their income or seek independence in their work. While the proportion of necessity entrepreneurship among the overall entrepreneurial activity does not differ between migrants and non-migrants across the stages of economic development, **Figure 4.3** shows that migrants are less likely to start a businesses for IDO-reasons than nonmigrants in efficiency- (only the case for first-generation migrants) and factor-driven economies (only for secondgeneration migrants).

As mentioned above, the migrant population in many economies is rather heterogeneous regarding motivations, circumstances of the migration decision, demographic and socio-economic characteristics, as well as the duration of stay in the host economy. It is therefore plausible to assume that the migrant population within one recipient economy also differs in their entrepreneurial prevalence and motivations. In order to account, at least partly for this heterogeneity, TEA-rates as well as the proportion of necessity-driven and improvement-driven opportunity entrepreneurship are examined by migrants' economy of origin (first generation migrants) and the economy of origin of their parents (second generation migrants). Again, because of limited sample sizes for single economies, the economies of origin are aggregated by stages of economic development. Results are confined to innovation- and efficiency-driven economies, as sample sizes do not allow for accurate estimates for migrants in factor-driven economies.



Figure 4.3: Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs, who Start Up for Improvement-Driven Opportunity Motivation Across Different Stages of Economic Development

TEA-rates of migrants originating from efficiency-driven economies exhibit a considerably lower prevalence for business start-ups than migrants from innovationdriven economies. In the efficiency-driven economies, entrepreneurs emigrating from innovation-driven economies were less likely to have necessity motives than those coming from efficiency or factor-driven economies. This suggests that migrant entrepreneurs that have come from wealthier regions to the developing world are less likely to be motivated by the need for income and, conversely, more likely to be pursuing opportunities to improve their income or independence. In the innovation-driven economies, there is no difference in necessity motives by economic development level of origin.

4.4 Impact of Migrants' Entrepreneurial Activity

Migrant entrepreneurs can impact the medium- and long-term prospects of the economies in which they start businesses to the extent they create employment, innovation and export opportunities. **Figure 4.4** presents the proportion of migrant and non-migrant entrepreneurs that intend to create 10 or more jobs in the next five years, grouped in the three stages of economic development.



CHAPTER 4



Figure 4.4: Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs, who Intend to Create 10 or More Jobs Across Different Stages of Economic Development

The figure shows that start-ups founded by both first and second-generation migrants are on average more growthoriented than those of non-migrants across all economic development levels, and these differences are statistically significant. The proportion of migrant entrepreneurs expecting to create 10 or more jobs is 25% in efficiencydriven economies (non-migrants 16%), 23% in factor-driven economies (non-migrants 9%) and 20% in innovation-driven economies (non-migrants 14%). These findings emphasize that migrant entrepreneurship should be seriously considered as a source of employment in all stages of economic development.

Migrants starting businesses with innovative products or services benefit their recipient economies by introducing new value into the market and creating a foundation for industry structural renewal. As a result, they contribute to improvements in regional/national productivity and enhanced competitiveness and economic growth. GEM assesses innovation orientation by measuring the novelty of product-market-combinations, which is defined as entrepreneurial activity with current products/services considered novel and unfamiliar to some or all customers, and that are believed to be offered only by a few or no other businesses.

Figure 4.5 indicates that, in innovation and factor-driven economies, newly founded firms started by both first and second-generation migrants are as equally innovation-oriented as non-migrants. In the efficiency-driven economies, migrants show a tendency toward more innovative products and services than non-migrants, but the differences are not statistically significant.

It is plausible to assume that many migrants offer products or services from their homeland that are new to markets and customers in the recipient economy. Examples include restaurants, country-specific retail stores or migrant community-related services. Yet innovation is not confined to cultural/migrant-specific solutions. The proportion of migrant business start-ups in medium- and high-technology sectors does not differ from that of nonmigrants in all three stages of economic development. This also applies to the proportion of entrepreneurs that



50% -										1
45% -										
40% -										
35% -										-
30% -										-
25% -				I		·····F···				-
20% -										
15% -										-
10% -										
5% -										-
0% -										-
	Innovation-driven ec. First generation migrants	Innovation-driven ec. Second generation migrants	Innovation-driven ec. Non-migrants	Efficiency-driven ec. First generation migrants	Efficiency-driven ec. Second generation migrants	Efficiency-driven ec. Non-migrants	Factor-driven ec. First generation migrants	Factor-driven ec. Second generation migrants	Factor-driven ec. Non-migrants	-Mean

Figure 4.5: Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs with New Product-Market Combinations Across Different Stages of Economic Development



Figure 4.6: Percentage of Migrant and Non-Migrant TEA-Entrepreneurs with Export Orientation Across Different Stages of Economic Development

indicate they use the newest technologies to produce their products. A broader view of innovation is therefore important to consider in this analysis.

A third measure of the economic impact of migrant entrepreneurship centers on international orientation. Entrepreneurs that enlarge the scope of their efforts to include international markets can increase their businesses' prospects for growth and sustainability. By seeking broader and more diverse markets, they can leverage their advantages in multiple cultures and decrease dependence on the market requirements and demand levels of a single economy. Furthermore, a successful market entry into another economy is an indicator of a company's international competitiveness.

Figure 4.6 illustrates the proportion of early-stage entrepreneurs who sell at least some of their products and services to customers outside their economy. The efficiencydriven group shows notable differences between migrants and non-migrants. While more than half of the migrant entrepreneurs indicated they sell products and services outside their host economy, this was the case for only a third of non-migrant entrepreneurs. This pattern is similar in innovation-driven economies, with a smaller difference between migrants and non-migrants, but a higher level of migrants selling internationally. In the factor-driven economies, however, migrants are not more likely than nonmigrants to sell internationally.

There is a plausible explanation for migrants' advantage over non-migrants regarding business internationalization processes, at least for efficiency and innovation-driven economies: as most migrants are culturally and socially connected to foreign economies, they possess specific knowledge about the characteristics, cultural features and institutional conditions in these markets. In addition, migrants often retain strong personal relationships in their home economies, and they possess the language, social awareness and ethnic credibility to form new ties; these can be valuable in, for example, reaching customers and finding suppliers or sub-contractors (Basu 2006, Waldinger et al. 1990).

¹ United Nations Population Division: http://esa.un.org/migration/ index.asp?panel=1

Research Papers by GEM Scholars

Autio, E., & Acs, Z. 2010. Intellectual property protection and the formation of entrepreneurial growth aspirations. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, 4(3): 234–251

Research Issue

To date, most research on individual-level determinants of entrepreneurial behaviours have used single-economy, often cross-sectional samples. In such samples, variance in economy-level conditions is typically zero. In addition, most of the received studies have been carried out in advanced market economies, notably, in the US and in Western Europe. These are important handicaps, because single-economy studies can tell us nothing about how an individual's context regulates his or her entrepreneurial behaviours.

This is a particularly important handicap from the perspective of policy design and implementation, because policy-makers typically seek to manipulate an individual's context in order to induce desired behaviours – such as engagement with growth-oriented entrepreneurship. In their study, Erkko Autio and Zoltan Acs addressed this gap by exploring the cross-level moderating effect of the economy's intellectual property protection regime on the relationship between a given individual's level of education and household income on that individual's entrepreneurial growth aspirations.

Theory and Method

Autio and Acs employed real options theory to consider an individual's allocation of his or her education and household income onto a growth-oriented entrepreneurial venture as an irreversible resource investment performed under uncertainty. They assumed that individuals are mostly rational when making such investments. Therefore, because an economy's intellectual property protection regime regulates the amount of external uncertainty faced by the individual, it will influence how an individual allocates his or her education and household income between entrepreneurship and salaried employment. Specifically, they hypothesised that while education and household income should each have a positive influence on a given individual's entrepreneurial growth aspirations, a strong intellectual property protection regime will strengthen the effect of the individual's household income on growth aspirations and weaken the effect of education on growth aspirations. They combined nine years of GEM adult population survey data with Heritage Foundation data to test their hypotheses. They used a two-step selection model with a multi-level regression design to analyse their data.



Findings

Consistent with hypotheses, Autio and Acs found that both education and household income exercised strong individuallevel effects on entrepreneurial growth aspirations when self-selection to entrepreneurship was controlled. They also found that the economy's intellectual property protection regime moderated these relationships. In economies where intellectual property protection was strong, the link between an individual's education and entrepreneurial growth aspirations grew weaker (although it remained positive throughout). Conversely, the link between an individual's household income and entrepreneurial growth aspirations grew stronger in strong IP protection regimes.

Implications

Autio and Acs are the first to have employed twostep multilevel designs to explore the influence of an individual's context on that individual's entrepreneurial behaviours. Their findings suggest that a strong intellectual property protection regime facilitates markets for technology. If markets for technology work well, welleducated individuals have more options to realise gains from their intellectual property. In addition to starting growth-oriented firms, well-educated individuals can also use the market for technology to sell, license or franchise their intellectual property. Conversely, entrepreneurs with a high household income can use that same market to acquire the intellectual property required to grow their firms. Thus, a well-functioning market for technology encourages specialisation among potential entrepreneurs and supports conditions where individuals can choose the course of action that best fits their innate strengths.

Conclusions

The 2012 GEM Global report highlights the multifaceted and dynamic nature of entrepreneurship around the world. Despite some commonalities within both geographic regions and economic development levels, each economy tells a unique story about its entrepreneurs. These stories are apt to evolve and change as institutional environments develop and political and economic contexts shift over time. These changes occur locally, nationally, regionally and globally in a landscape impacted by technological discontinuities, social evolution and revolution, and a host of other human factors.

The Role of Entrepreneurial Attitudes

Population-wide attitudes are important indicators of potential entrepreneurs and societal support for this activity. They often reflect a society's economic development level. For example, attitudes toward entrepreneurship are generally high in the factor-driven economies, where entrepreneurship is a more common source of generating income. People are likely to see this activity as viable and themselves as prepared to undertake it; yet they may not have the same types of businesses in mind, given there are more necessity-based, consumer-oriented, and low growth entrepreneurs in these societies.

Attitudes may also mirror current conditions, as the analysis of Nordic versus South European economies shows. Perceptions about opportunities have mostly increased in the Nordic countries since a drop in 2009, while the Southern European countries, mired in a languishing economic environment, show a pessimism about opportunities that has not begun to rebound toward its 2008 levels.

Positive attitudes reflect entrepreneurial ambitions and societal support. They are needed at a widespread level as some economies develop and others face periodic difficulties. These results perhaps lend merit to efforts that take the pulse of societal attitudes about entrepreneurship and promote educational and other programs that target and assess changes in attitudes, as well as skill building.

In addition, attitudes and support can focus toward higher potential businesses, particularly in the factor and efficiency-driven economies. Micro-enterprise has gained respect and traction, but micro-entrepreneurs should not represent the aspirations of all those with such ambitions. Initiatives can address all levels of entrepreneurial aspirations—micro, middle-growth, and high potential business activities. Goldman Sachs, for example, is focusing on helping women grow businesses through its 10,000 Women project. Endeavor seeks out high-growth entrepreneurs to support and model their high aspiration activities. Both initiatives target emergent and developing economies. People in these societies can believe they have the ability to think big.

Entrepreneurial Activity

Overall, TEA rates displayed upward trends in many economies. Yet a difference between male and female TEA rates continues to persist worldwide. Women entrepreneurs may not be sufficiently empowered or supported to allow them to contribute to new business start-ups. The reasons may include cultural and societal attitudes and access to resources and opportunities. Policies that can promote societal attitude changes, and train, support and encourage women entrepreneurs will promote inclusiveness and fuel economic growth.

Societies can benefit from the entrepreneurial energy of people in all age groups. Individuals of all ages can create jobs and income for themselves and others when there are opportunities to do so, and when there is an undersupply of employment options. Their entrepreneurial efforts may reflect unique orientations and resources, such as the fresh ideas, risk tolerance and technology savvy of the young, and the experience, networks and credibility that comes with maturity. Younger entrepreneurs, however, will likely require different support programs compared to older entrepreneurs.

Failure due to such factors as lack of finances, unprofitability, management issues or external circumstances can be addressed through policy, training and other initiatives. However, the wealth of experience that comes from even failed efforts can be recognized and leveraged. Experienced entrepreneurs can re-engage in entrepreneurial activity. Hessels et al.'s (2011) study shows that serial entrepreneurs tend to be more successful (and therefore, more impactful) than new, and to a large extent less experienced, entrepreneurs.¹

Additionally, former entrepreneurs may engage in new business activities in established organizations, or they can support other entrepreneurs in a variety of stakeholder roles, such as advisors, managerial staff, investors, and so forth. Attention could therefore turn toward reducing the negative consequences of failure, instead seeing this as valuable learning experience, and re-engaging former entrepreneurs, whether they have discontinued for positive or negative reasons.

Entrepreneurial Growth and Employment Creation

Job creation is on the mind of nearly every policy maker in all parts of the world. As Levie and Autio (2011) suggest, it is not the supply of entrepreneurs that constitutes the key bottleneck to economic dynamism, but rather, the activities toward which entrepreneurial individuals channel their efforts. These authors emphasize that a high-growth oriented approach to entrepreneurship will create jobs and, in tandem, grow economies. Growth projections can be influenced by the aspirations of entrepreneurs, the quality of their businesses, internal market demand and the supply of qualified labor, access to international markets and other factors. Efforts such as improving the labor market, increasing the internal market, and providing access to international markets can be more specifically addressed toward meeting the specific needs of entrepreneurs.

With unemployment and a growing youth population a key issue in regions such as Sub-Saharan Africa, identifying and successfully implementing policies that both encourage youth to start businesses and support businesses with high employee growth expectations will be critical to creating jobs and ensuring economic growth and societal stability.

Framework Conditions for Entrepreneurship

framework The analysis of conditions provides encouragement in the positive views of experts from all regions of the world about the physical infrastructure for entrepreneurship. At the same time, these experts largely rated entrepreneurship education at primary and secondary school levels as poor, indicating the need for both national and global efforts to encourage this factor. Some conditions show positive results in some regions, but negative ratings in others: for example, the USA rated R&D transfer positively, while most Sub-Saharan African economies, and many economies in the other regions, saw this factor unfavorably. Each region has particular strengths but also areas to improve: for example, Latin America has good post-school entrepreneurship education, yet experts were less favorable about internal market dynamics and access to entrepreneurial finance. While policies that work in one economy are not guaranteed success in others, there may be merit in studying and discussing what works (and doesn't) within and across regions.

The Legal Framework

The 2010 Global Report (Kelley et al., 2010) showed a strong positive correlation between the success of a society in creating an environment in which fair and predictable rules form the basis for economic and social interaction, and the level of improvement-driven opportunity motivated entrepreneurial activity. High-aspiration entrepreneurs are particularly sensitive to the rule of law, as Levie and Autio (2011) show: if rule of law is weak, entry regulations will still increase the number of new entrepreneurs, but fewer of these will seek growth. Therefore, if an economy's government only professes to support entrepreneurship by making entry regulations easier without enforcing a

strong rule of law, the quality of entrepreneurial entries will suffer – and consequently, the economic impact of entrepreneurship will diminish.²

Additionally, both strategy and priorities need to be primed to exploit the competitive advantage of one's respective economy and create globally competitive entrepreneurs. Autio and Acs (2010) highlight the importance of strong IP protection in creating markets for technology. Their study suggests that if markets for technology work well, individuals will have more options to realise gains from their intellectual property. Thus, a well-functioning market for technology encourages specialisation among potential entrepreneurs and supports conditions where individuals can choose the course of action that best fits their innate strengths.³ These benefits are likely to extend to international markets, where entrepreneurs with IP protection in their home countries can be ensured they can operate under a similar regime in the international sphere.

These findings highlight the importance of the legal framework in developing a context in which entrepreneurship can thrive.

Migrant Entrepreneurship

Migrant entrepreneurs can make significant contributions to economic growth and global competitiveness in both their host and home economies. The GEM results show that migrant entrepreneurs are more likely to have growth intentions at all economic development levels. Additionally, in the efficiency and innovation-driven economies, they are more likely to sell to international customers. As such, migrant entrepreneurs can create jobs, boost global competitiveness and influence the transfer of resources, information and technological know-how. Policy makers in receiving economies can recognize the value migrants can provide in creating jobs and globalizing the business environment. Economies of origin should make every effort to build and support connections to those that have emigrated to other parts of the world.

For 14 years, GEM has served as a distinctive and valuable source of data on entrepreneurship for a variety of audiences, using a rigorous methodology that allows for an evidence-based approach to the study of this phenomenon. A key purpose of GEM is to inform academics, educators, policy makers and practitioners about the frequency and nature of entrepreneurship in and among economies worldwide. With this aim, GEM can encourage better understanding about entrepreneurship and guide decision making that can lead to better support and conditions that allow this endeavor to thrive.

Hessels, J., Grilo, I., Thurik, R., & van der Zwan, P. 2011. Entrepreneurial exit and entrepreneurial engagement. Journal of Evolutionary Economics, 21(3): 447-471
 Levie, J., & Autio, E. 2011. Regulatory burden, rule of law, and entry of strategic entrepreneurs: An international panel study. Journal of Management Studies, 48(6): 1392-1419

^{3.} Autio, E., & Acs, Z. 2010. Intellectual property protection and the formation of entrepreneurial growth aspirations. Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal, 4(3): 234-251

Research Papers by GEM Scholars

Hessels, J., Grilo, I., Thurik, R., & van der Zwan, P. 2011. Entrepreneurial exit and entrepreneurial engagement. *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, 21(3): 447–471 Research Issue



Both entrepreneurial entry and exit are fundamental aspects of the entrepreneurial process. However, whereas entries into entrepreneurship have been studied extensively, entrepreneurial exits have received considerably less attention. This is in spite of the fact that without exits, there would be far fewer entries into entrepreneurship. Indeed, one may argue that it is exits from entrepreneurship that are the more important driver of the trial-and-error process of 'creative destruction', through which entrepreneurs drive the allocation of resources to productive uses in the economy. Exits provide an important mechanism driving entrepreneurial learning, and it is important that lessons from exited ventures are channelled to new start-ups to enhance the effectiveness of these. But when do exits from entrepreneurship lead to the creation of new ventures, and when are exits permanent? Jolanda Hessels, Isabel Grilo, Roy Thurik and Peter van der Zwan used GEM data to address this under-studied, yet important question.

Theory and Method

Hessels and colleagues drew on human capital theory and on research on entrepreneurial exits and serial entrepreneurship to link a given individual's human capital with the likelihood that that individual will start a new business after exiting a previous venture. They argued that many of the skills and competencies required to successfully launch a new business can be gained most efficiently through experience. Therefore, an individual's previous start-up experience should constitute an important predictor of future start-up activity. Hessels and colleagues argued that this effect should be strengthened by the individual's own human capital (e.g., as expressed in his or her education), as such human capital enhances the individual's ability to learn from experience. To explore these relationships, they used GEM data for 24 economies for years 2004-2006. They studied marginal effects of various individual-level predictors in a logistic regression to gain insights into the determinants of re-entry after an entrepreneurial exit event.

Findings

Hessels and colleagues found that an exit event during the past year significantly increases the probability that an individual is engaged in subsequent entrepreneurial activity – in particular, the probability of an individual being classified as potential or intentional entrepreneur in the GEM data. This finding is consistent with the notion that an entrepreneurial exit encapsulates entrepreneurial learning. They further found that being a male, knowing other entrepreneurs, and having informal exit experience increased the probability that an individual was involved in subsequent start-up activity after an exit event. Interestingly, possessing some secondary education decreased this probability, but possessing post-secondary education did not increase it.

Implications

Entrepreneurship is, to a large extent, project-based activity, the skills for which can be learned by experience. For this reason it is important to understand factors that propel individuals to re-engage with entrepreneurial activity after having exited their previous venture. Understanding these factors is important, since studies show that serial entrepreneurs tend to be more successful (and therefore, more impactful) than *de novo* entrepreneurs. The study by Hessels and colleagues demonstrates the utility of the GEM data for the study of the effects of exit experience, while underscoring the importance of continued attention to this important topic.

References

Brixy, U.; Hundt, C; Sternberg, R.; Vorderwülbecke, A. 2011: Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM). National Report Germany 2010. Institute of Economic and Cultural Geography, Leibniz Universität Hannover, Institute for Employment Research, Hanover and Nuremberg.

Coduras, A. 2008: La actividad emprendedora de los inmigrantes en España, 2005-2007. ICE: Revista de Economía, N° 841, pp. 97-116.

Constant, A.; Zimmermann, K. F. 2006: The making of entrepreneurs in Germany: Are native men and immigrant alike? In: Small Business Economics 26 (3), 279-300.

De La Vega, I.; Coduras, A.; Cruz, C.; Justo, R. 2008: Entrepreneurial Activity among Foreigners Resident in Spain. International Centre for Entrepreneurship and Venture Development. IE Business School.

Drew Hohn, M.; Atkins, L.; Waslin, M. 2012: Immigrant Entrepreneurs. Creating Jobs and Strengthening the Economy. Labor, Immigration and Employee Benefits Division of the US Chamber of Commerce; Immigration Policy Center of the American Immigration Council.

Irastorza, N., Pena, I. 2007: Entrepreneurial Activity of Immigrants versus Natives in Spain: Are Immigrants more Entreprising than Natives? In: Frontiers of Entrepreneurial Research 27 (9).

Kloosterman, R.C. 2010: Matchingopportunities with resources. A framework for analyzing (migrant) entrepreneurship from a mixed embeddedness perspective. In: Entrepreneurship and Regional Development 22 (1), 25-45.

Kloosterman, R. C.; RATH, J. 2001: Immigrant entrepreneurs in advanced economies: Mixed embeddedness further explored. In: Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 27 (2), 189-201.

Kloosterman, R.; Rath, J. 2003: Immigrant Entrepreneurs – Venturing abroad in the age of globalization. Oxford und York: Berg.

Kloosterman, R.; Van Der Leun, J.; Rath, J. 1999: Mixed Embeddedness: (In)formal Economic Activities and Immigrant Business in the Netherlands. In: International Journal of Urban and Regional Research 23 (2), 252-266. Levie, J. 2007: Immigration, In-Migration, Ethnicity and Entrepreneurship in the United Kingdom. In: Small Business Economics 28, 143-169.

Levie, J.; Hart, M. 2009: Global Entrepreneurship Monitor. United Kingdom 2008 Monitoring Report. University of Strathclyde, Aston Business School.

Light, I. 1984: Immigrant and ethnic enterprise in North America. In: Ethnic and Racial Studies 7, 195-216.

OECD 2010: Entrepreneurship and Migrants. Report by the OECD Working Party on SMEs and Entrepreneurship, OECD. Portes, A.; Guarnizo, L. E.; Haller, W. J. 2002: Transnational Entrepreneurs: An Alternative Form of Immigrant Economic Adaptation. In: American Sociological Review 67 (2), 278-298.

Sahin, M.; Nijkamp, P.; Baycan-Levent, T. 2007: Migrant entrepreneurship from the perspective of cultural diversity. In: Dana, L.-P. (Hrsg.) 2007: Handbook of research on ethnic minority entrepreneurship. Northampton/Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. 99-116.

Saxenian, A. 1999: Silicon Valley's New Immigrant Entrepreneurs. San Francisco: Public Policy Institute of California.

Saxenian, A. 2006: The New Argonauts: Regional Advantage in a Global Economy. Harvard University Press.

Waldinger, R.; Aldrich, H.; Ward, R. 1990b: Opportunities, Group Characteristics, and Strategies. In: Waldinger, R.; Aldrich, H.; Ward, R. 1990: Ethnic Entrepreneurs: Immigrant Business in Industrial Societies. Newbury Park, London and New Delhi: Sage Publications, 13-48.

Appendix 1: Tables of GEM Data

Table 1: Entrepreneurial Attitudes and Perceptions in the GEM Countries in 2012 by Phase of Economic Development

				Entrepre-	Entrepre-		
			- (neurial	neurship as a	High status	Media attention
Country	Perceived	Perceived	Fear of	intentions **	good career	to successful	for entrepre-
Country FACTOR	opportunities	capabilities	failure*	^ ^	choice	entrepreneurs	neurship
	46	54	35	21	79	81	47
Algeria	66	72	35	70	19	01	47
Angola Botswana	67	72	25	70	76	73	79
	54	59	33	42	83	87	64
Egypt	65	69	33	24	76	92	73
Ethiopia Ghana	79	86	18	60	84	92	82
Iran	39	54	41	23	60	73	61
Malawi	74	85	12	70			01
	82	88	21	44	- 82	- 76	- 78
Nigeria Pakistan	46		31	25	66	68	51
Palestine	46	49 59	40	25 36	85	80	71
	81	88	40 15	79	60	80	11
Uganda Zambia	78	88	15	79 55	67	79	72
	18	84	1/	55	07	19	12
Average	63	71	28	48	76	80	68
(unweighted) EFFICIENCY	03		20	40	10	80	00
	50	63	27	29	74	67	63
Argentina Barbados	47	70	17	29	-	-	-
Bosnia and	47	10	±1	23	-	-	-
Herzegovina	20	49	27	22	81	72	39
Brazil	52	54	31	36	89	86	86
Chile	65	60	28	43	70	68	66
China	32	38	36	20	70	76	80
Colombia	72	57	30	57	89	75	69
Costa Rica	47	63	35	33	72	72	79
Croatia	17	44	36	19	64	42	40
Ecuador	59	72	33	51	88	84	79
El Salvador	43	59	42	40	73	72	62
Estonia	45	43	34	40 16	55	63	41
Hungary	11	40	34	13	41	74	29
Latvia	33	44	37	22	60	53	53
Lithuania	30	40	36	18	63	53	37
Macedonia	31	55	39	28	70	67	64
Malaysia	36	31	36	13	46	51	62
Mexico	45	62	26	18	56	54	38
Namibia	75	74	35	45	73	76	82
Panama	38	43	17	12	-	-	-
Peru	57	65	30	45	77	73	76
Poland	20	54	43	22	68	57	56
Romania	37	38	41	27	71	74	55
Russia	20	24	41	21	60	63	45
South Africa	35	39	31	12	74	74	73
Thailand	45	46	50	12	74	79	84
Trinidad &	+5	40		10	10	13	
Tobago	59	76	17	37	78	76	64

				Entrepre-	Entrepre-		
				neurial	neurship as a	High status	Media attention
	Perceived	Perceived	Fear of	intentions	good career	to successful	for entrepre-
Country	opportunities	capabilities	failure*	**	choice	entrepreneurs	neurship
Tunisia	33	62	15	22	88	94	48
Turkey	40	49	30	15	67	76	57
Uruguay	51	58	27	20	61	59	51
Average	51		21	20	01	55	51
(unweighted)	41	52	32	26	70	69	60
INNOVATION	<u></u>	52	52	20	10	00	00
Austria	49	50	36	9	46	76	
Belgium	33	37	41	9	62	57	54
Denmark	44	31	39	7	-	-	
Finland	55	34	33	8	45	83	68
France	38	36	43	17	65	77	41
Germany	36	37	42	6	49	76	49
Greece	13	50	61	10	64	68	33
Ireland	26	45	35	5	45	81	61
Israel	31	29	47	13	59	72	47
Italy	20	30	58	11	67	72	51
Japan	6	9	53	2	30	55	53
Republic of	0	3	- 55	2		35	
Korea	13	27	43	13	59	70	68
Netherlands	34	42	30	9	79	65	58
Norway	64	34	39	5	50	80	59
Portugal	16	47	42	14	-	-	-
Singapore	23	27	42	16	50	63	77
Slovakia	18	50	38	12	50	74	59
Slovenia	20	51	27	13	53	71	51
Spain	14	50	42	11	64	64	47
Sweden	66	37	33	11	-	-	-
Switzerland	36	37	32	7	44	63	57
Taiwan	39	26	38	25	70	63	83
United							
Kingdom	33	47	36	10	50	77	47
United							
States	43	56	32	13	-	-	-
Average							
(unweighted)	31	36	39	10	53	68	56

* Fear of failure assessed for those seeing opportunities

 $^{\star\star}\,$ Intentions assessed among nonentrepreneur population

+ These questions were optional and therefore not included by all economies

Table 2: Entrepreneurial Activity in the 69 GEM Countries in 2012, by Phase of Economic Development

		New		Established			Improvement-
	Nascent	business	Early-stage	business		Necessity-	driven
	entrepreneur-	ownership	entrepreneurial	ownership	Discontinuation	driven (% of	opportunity
Country	ship rate	rate	activity (TEA)	rate	of businesses	TEA)	(% of TEA)
FACTOR							
Algeria	2	7	9	3	7	30	47
Angola	15	19	32	9	26	24	38
Botswana	17	12	28	6	16	33	48
Egypt	3	5	8	4	5	34	23
Ethiopia	6	9	15	10	3	20	69
Ghana	15	23	37	38	16	28	51
Iran	4	6	11	10	5	42	36
Malawi	18	20	36	11	29	42	43
Nigeria	22	14	35	16	8	35	53
Pakistan	8	3	12	4	3	53	24
Palestine	6	4	10	3	8	42	27
Uganda	10	28	36	31	26	46	42
Zambia	27	15	41	4	20	32	46
Average		-			-	-	-
(unweighted)	12	13	24	11	13	35	42
EFFICIENCY	1	-		1			L
Argentina	12	7	19	10	5	35	47
Barbados	10	7	17	12	3	12	63
Bosnia and							
Herzegovina	5	3	8	6	7	58	20
Brazil	4	11	15	15	5	30	59
Chile	15	8	23	8	5	17	69
China	5	7	13	12	4	37	39
Colombia	14	7	20	7	7	12	48
Costa Rica	10	5	15	3	3	20	48
Croatia	6	2	8	3	4	34	36
Ecuador	17	12	27	19	8	36	30
El Salvador	8	8	15	9	8	35	39
Estonia	9	5	14	7	4	18	49
Hungary	6	4	9	8	4	31	35
Latvia	9	5	13	8	3	25	46
Lithuania	3	4	7	8	2	25	51
Macedonia	4	3	7	7	4	52	29
Malaysia	3	4	7	7	2	13	61
Mexico	8	4	12	5	4	13	52
Namibia	11	7	18	3	12	37	37
Panama	7	3	9	2	2	19	57
Peru	15	6	20	5	7	23	53
Poland	5	5	9	6	4	41	30
Romania	6	4	9	4	4	24	30
Russia	3	2	4	2	1	36	30
South Africa	4	3	7	2	5	30	40
Thailand	9	11	19	30	3	17	67
Trinidad &	_		13		J	<u> </u>	07
Tobago	9	7	15	7	5	15	60
Tunisia	2	2	5	4	4	35	42
	7	5	5 12	9	<u> </u>	35	42 55
Turkey		5		9 5	5		
Uruguay	10	5	15	<u> </u>	5	18	40
Average	0	6	10		E	00	46
(unweighted)	8	6	13	8	5	28	46

Appendix 1

		New		Established			Improvement-
	Nascent	business	Early-stage	business		Necessity-	driven
	entrepreneur-	ownership	entrepreneurial	ownership	Discontinuation	driven (% of	opportunity
Country	ship rate	rate	activity (TEA)	rate	of businesses	TEA)	(% of TEA)
INNOVATION							
Austria	7	3	10	8	4	11	38
Belgium	3	2	5	5	2	18	62
Denmark	3	2	5	3	1	8	71
Finland	3	3	6	8	2	17	60
France	4	2	5	3	2	18	59
Germany	4	2	5	5	2	22	51
Greece	4	3	7	12	4	30	32
Ireland	4	2	6	8	2	28	41
Israel	3	3	7	4	4	19	46
Italy	2	2	4	3	2	16	22
Japan	2	2	4	6	1	21	66
Republic of							
Korea	3	4	7	10	3	35	46
Netherlands	4	6	10	9	2	8	66
Norway	4	3	7	6	1	7	70
Portugal	4	4	8	6	3	18	53
Singapore	8	4	12	3	4	15	54
Slovakia	7	4	10	6	5	36	43
Slovenia	3	3	5	6	2	7	64
Spain	3	2	6	9	2	26	33
Sweden	5	2	6	5	2	7	49
Switzerland	3	3	6	8	2	18	57
Taiwan	3	4	8	10	6	18	43
United							
Kingdom	5	4	9	6	2	18	43
United							
States	9	4	13	9	4	21	59
Average (unweighted)	4	3	7	7	3	18	51

Table 3: Gender Distribution of Early-Stage Entreprepeneurs (TEA) & Necessity vs Opportunity Entrepreneurship by Geographic Region, 2012

			Male	Female	Male	Female
	Male TEA	Female TEA	Opportunity	Opportunity	Necessity	Necessity
	(% adult	(% adult	TEA (% male	TEA (%	TEA (% male	TEA (%
Economy	population)	population)	TEA)	female TEA)	TEA)	female TEA)
LATIN AMERICA & CARRIBEAN						
Argentina	24	14	73	54	27	46
Barbados	18	16	88	86	12	13
Brazil	16	15	75	63	24	36
Chile	26	19	90	72	10	27
Colombia	23	18	90	84	10	15
Costa Rica	20	11	79	77	18	23
Ecuador	26	27	70	59	29	41
El Salvador	16	14	69	57	28	42
Mexico	12	12	85	85	13	14
Panama	8	10	81	78	19	20
Peru	23	18	78	70	21	26
Trinidad & Tobago	17	13	90	74	10	22
Uruguay	20	10	82	76	18	19
Average (unweighted)	19	15	81	71	19	28
MIDDLE EAST & NORTH AFRICA	•	<u> </u>	•	<u> </u>		
Algeria	12	5	63	64	31	28
Egypt	13	2	41	30	34	31
Iran	16	6	56	62	43	38
Israel	8	5	73	63	17	22
Palestine	16	3	62	41	38	59
Tunisia	7	3	56	69	39	28
Average (unweighted)	12	4	58	58	35	34
SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA						
Angola	34	31	77	71	20	27
Botswana	30	25	68	60	29	38
Ethiopia	17	13	81	77	18	23
Ghana	35	38	75	68	23	31
Malawi	39	32	66	49	34	51
Namibia	19	18	65	56	32	43
Nigeria	34	36	68	63	32	37
South Africa	9	6	70	61	27	39
Uganda	36	36	55	51	45	47
Zambia	43	40	71	64	29	36
Average (unweighted)	30	27	69	61	30	38
ASIA PACIFIC & SOUTH ASIA				<u>.</u>		
China	15	11	64	60	35	40
Japan	6	2	70	87	25	9
Republic of Korea	11	2	65	62	34	38
Malaysia	8	6	87	85	13	14
Pakistan	21	1	47	22	52	73
Singapore	13	10	81	87	16	13
Taiwan	9	6	80	85	20	15
Thailand	9 17	21	88	85 77	11	21
Average (unweighted)	12	7	70	76	28	21

Appendix 1

			N.4 - I -	E a sua a la	Mala	F
			Male	Female	Male	Female
	Male TEA (% adult	Female TEA (% adult	Opportunity TEA (% male	Opportunity TEA (%	Necessity TEA (% male	Necessity TEA (%
Faanamy	population)	population)	TEA (% male TEA)	female TEA (%	TEA (% male TEA)	female TEA)
Economy EUROPEAN UNION	population)	μοραιατιστι)	TEA)	Ternale TEA)	TEA)	Ternale TEA)
	11	8	84	70	0	15
Austria				78	8	15 14
Belgium	8	3	73 91	86 88	19 8	9
Denmark	19	3 10	79	80	18	9 18
Estonia	8	4	79	69	18	21
Finland						
France	6	4	82	79	16	21
Germany	7	4	76	78	22	22
Greece	9	4	75	60	25	40
Hungary	13	6	70	57	28	38
Ireland	8	4	71	71	29	27
Italy	6	3	66	82	21	5
Latvia	19	8	73	71	25	27
Lithuania	9	4	70	77	27	19
Netherlands	14	7	85	82	9	6
Poland	13	6	48	63	44	34
Portugal	9	6	77	68	19	16
Romania	13	5	70	87	29	13
Slovakia	14	7	64	63	36	36
Slovenia	8	3	90	89	7	7
Spain	7	4	75	67	23	31
Sweden	8	5	85	88	7	7
United Kingdom	12	6	82	74	15	24
Average (unweighted)	10	5	75	74	21	21
NON-EUROPEAN UNION						
Bosnia and Herzegovina	10	5	42	36	57	61
Croatia	12	5	66	62	33	38
Macedonia	9	5	52	36	47	62
Norway	10	4	92	80	6	12
Russia	5	3	61	64	38	34
Switzerland	6	5	75	74	20	16
Turkey	17	7	68	64	30	33
Average (unweighted)	10	5	65	59	33	37
UNITED STATES			1		1	
United States	15	10	76	74	21	21

Table 4: Job Growth Expectations for Early-Stage Entrepreneurship Activity

Country	Job expectations	Job expectations	Job expectations
	0 - 5 jobs (% adult population)	5 - 19 jobs (% adult population)	20 or more jobs (% adult population)
LATIN AMERICA & CARRIBEAN			
Argentina	10.6	2.7	1.8
Barbados	8.8	1.9	1.0
Brazil	10.6	1.5	0.7
Chile	11.1	6.3	2.1
Colombia	8.5	5.7	4.3
Costa Rica	9.9	2.5	0.8
Ecuador	20.9	2.0	0.5
El Salvador	8.2	2.8	1.3
Mexico	6.9	1.9	0.6
Panama	7.3	0.6	0.0
Peru	11.7	3.7	0.6
Trinidad & Tobago	6.8	2.0	1.4
Uruguay	6.6	2.0	1.1
Average (unweighted)	9.8	2.7	1.3
MIDDLE EAST & NORTH AFRICA			
Algeria	4.6	1.5	0.4
Egypt	2.5	3.6	1.3
Iran	8.1	1.9	0.3
Israel	1.6	0.7	1.0
Palestine	7.0	1.8	1.0
Tunisia	1.2	0.8	0.5
Average (unweighted)	4.2	1.7	0.7
SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA			
Angola	8.4	5.2	2.9
Botswana	12.7	6.5	3.2
Ethiopia	12.3	1.5	1.0
Ghana	23.9	5.0	1.6
Malawi	29.2	0.6	0.0
Namibia	9.8	2.8	1.2
Nigeria	18.2	6.1	2.8
South Africa	4.5	1.4	1.0
Uganda	29.9	3.1	0.4
Zambia	31.9	4.2	0.5
Average (unweighted)	18.1	3.6	1.5
ASIA PACIFIC & SOUTH ASIA	7.0	4.5	47
China	7.0	1.5	1.7
Japan Dagathia af Kanag	1.9	0.7	0.6
Republic of Korea	3.5	1.2	1.2
Malaysia	5.4	1.3	0.3
Pakistan	8.7	1.2	1.7
Singapore	5.8	2.9	2.3
Taiwan	3.2	1.6	2.0

Country	Job expectations	Job expectations	Job expectations
	0 - 5 jobs (% adult	5 - 19 jobs (% adult	20 or more jobs (% adult
	population)	population)	population)
Thailand	13.1	1.7	1.0
Average (unweighted)	6.1	1.5	1.4
EUROPEAN UNION			
Austria	5.2	0.8	0.4
Belgium	2.9	1.1	0.2
Denmark	2.9	1.0	0.7
Estonia	5.8	3.8	1.6
Finland	4.1	0.7	0.4
France	3.1	0.9	0.4
Germany	3.3	0.8	0.6
Greece	3.3	0.7	0.2
Hungary	5.0	1.5	1.6
Ireland	3.2	1.1	0.9
Italy	2.9	0.5	0.3
Latvia	3.9	4.0	3.1
Lithuania	1.7	1.9	1.4
Netherlands	6.9	1.2	0.7
Poland	4.8	1.8	1.0
Portugal	3.6	1.5	0.5
Romania	2.6	2.9	1.6
Slovakia	4.3	2.2	1.3
Slovenia	2.5	0.7	0.7
Spain	4.0	0.6	0.2
Sweden	4.6	0.8	0.3
United Kingdom	5.3	1.9	0.9
Average (unweighted)	3.9	1.5	0.9
NON-EUROPEAN UNION			
Bosnia and Herzegovina	1.7	1.9	0.7
Croatia	2.7	1.5	1.0
Macedonia	3.5	1.6	0.7
Norway	5.1	0.8	0.4
Russia	1.9	0.9	0.4
Switzerland	3.6	0.4	0.4
Turkey	3.8	2.5	2.8
Average (unweighted)	3.2	1.4	0.9
UNITED STATES	· · · · ·		
United States	6.6	2.2	1.7

Appendix 2: Characteristics of GEM Surveys

Economy	Interview Procedure	Sample size	Economy	Interview Procedure	Sample size
Algeria	face-to-face	4995	Lithuania	fixed line, mobile phone	2003
Angola	face-to-face	2636	Macedonia	fixed line, mobile phone	2003
Argentina	fixed line	2018	Malawi	face-to-face	2006
Austria	fixed line, mobile phone	4583	Malaysia	face-to-face	2006
Barbados	fixed line, face-to-face	2055	Mexico	face-to-face	2516
Belgium	fixed line, mobile phone	2010	Namibia	face-to-face	1959
Bosnia and Herzegovina	fixed line	2001	Netherlands Nigeria	fixed line, mobile phone face-to-face	3501 2651
Botswana	face-to-face	2374			
Brazil	face-to-face	10000	Norway	fixed line, mobile phone	2000
Chile	fixed line, mobile phone	2420	Pakistan	face-to-face	2000
China	face-to-face	3684	Palestine	face-to-face	2000
Colombia	fixed line, face-to-face	6471	Panama	face-to-face	2000
Costa Rica	face-to-face	2041	Peru	face-to-face	2071
Croatia	fixed line	2000	Poland	fixed line, mobile phone	2003
Denmark	mobile phone	2217	Portugal	fixed line, mobile phone	2001
Ecuador	face-to-face	2004	Romania	fixed line, mobile phone	2004
	mobile phone, face-to-	2501	Russia	face-to-face	3541
Egypt	face	2501	Singapore	fixed line	2001
El Salvador	fixed line, face-to-face	2180	Slovakia	fixed line, mobile phone	2000
Estonia	fixed line, mobile phone	2004	Slovenia	fixed line, mobile phone	2010
Ethiopia	face-to-face	3005	South Africa	face-to-face	2928
Finland	fixed line, mobile phone	2038	Spain	fixed line	21900
France	fixed line	4003	Sweden	fixed line, mobile phone	2500
Germany	fixed line, mobile phone	4300	Switzerland	fixed line	2003
Ghana	face-to-face	2222	Taiwan	fixed line	2009
Greece	fixed line	2000	Thailand	fixed line, face-to-face	3000
Hungary	mobile phone	2000	Trinidad &	face-to-face	2029
India	face-to-face	2700	Tobago	fived line, weakile where	
Iran	face-to-face	3178	Tunisia	fixed line, mobile phone	2000
Ireland	fixed line, mobile phone	2000	Turkey	fixed line	2401
Israel	fixed line	2007	Uganda	face-to-face	2343
Italy	fixed line	2000	United Kingdom	fixed line, mobile phone	2000
Jamaica	face-to-face	2003	United States	fixed line, mobile phone	5542
Japan	fixed line	2010	Uruguay	fixed line	2016
Republic of Korea	fixed line	2000	Zambia	face-to-face	2157
Latvia	fixed line, mobile phone	2000	Total		198 764

Appendix 2



GEM National Teams 2012

Team	Institution
Algeria	CREAD
Angola	Sociedade Portuguesa e Inovação (SPI)
	Centro de Estudos e Investigação Científica (CEIC) of the Universidade Católica de Angola (UCAN)
Argentina	IAE - Business School
Austria	FH Joanneum
Barbados	The Cave Hill School of Business, The University of the West Indies
Belgium	Vlerick Business School
Bosnia & Herzegovina	Centre for Entrepreneurship Development Tuzla (in partnership with University of Tuzla)

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
Abderrahmane Abedou	German Development Cooperation	CREAD	a.abedou@cread.edu.dz
Ahmed Bouyacoub	(Deutsche Gesellschaft fuer		abedou@yahoo.fr
Hamid Kherbachi	Internationale Zusammenarbeit,		
Mohcene Abdenour	GIZ)		
Zoubiri Hocine			
Marita Riedel			
Marcus Casel			
Augusto Medina	BFA – Banco de Fomento Angola,	SINFIC, Sistemas	augustomedina@spi.pt
Douglas Thompson	S.A.R.L.	de Informação	
Nuno Gonçalves	International Development	Industriais, S.A.	
João Rodrigues	Research Centre (IDRC)		
Catarina Barbosa			
Sofia Esteves			
Manuel Alves da Rocha			
Carlos Vaz			
Salim Abdul Valimamade			
Silvia Torres Carbonell	Buenos Aires City Government –	MORI Argentina	SCarbonell@iae.edu.ar
Aranzazu Echezarreta	Economic Development Ministry		
Juan Martin Rodriguez			
Thomas Schmalzer	Wirtschaftskammer Österreich	OGM Gesellschaft für	Thomas.Schmalzer@fh-
Bernadette Frech	Wirtschaftskammer Steiermark	Marketing Ges.m.b.H.	joanneum.at
Rene Wenzel	Wirtschaftskammer Oberösterreich		
Vito Bobek	Wirtschaftskammer		
	Niederösterreich		
	Wirtschaftskammer Wien		
	Wirtschaftskammer Kärnten		
	Wirtschaftskammer Salzburg		
	Wirtschaftskammer Burgenland		
	Wirtschaftskammer Tirol		
	Wirtschaftskammer Vorarlberg		
Marjorie Wharton	International Development	Systems Consulting Ltd.	marjorie.wharton@cavehill.uwi.edu
Donley Carrington	Research Centre (IDRC)		
Jeannine Comma	First Citizens Bank Ltd		
Hans Crijns	STOIO (Flemish Research	Dedicated Research	tine.holvoet@vlerick.com
Niels Bosma	Organisation for Entrepreneurship		niels.bosma@vlerick.com
Tine Holvoet	and Regional Economy)		
	EWI (Department of Economy,		
Debrije Umikenić	Science and Innovation)	IDCOC d a a Carajava	office Rearrand turle and
Bahrija Umihanić	Centre for Entrepreneurship	IPSOS d.o.o. Sarajevo	office@cerpod-tuzla.org
Mirela Omerović Rasim Tulumović	Development Tuzla Federal Ministry of		
	Entrepreneurship, Development		
Slađana Simić	and Crafts		
Aziz Šunje	Ministry of Development and		
Kenan Crnkić	Entrepreneurship of Tuzla Canton		
Vjekoslav Domljan	SeeNet Program		
Ranko Markuš	MCF Prizma		
Selma Poljić			

Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2012 Global Report

Team	Institution
Botswana	University of Botswana
Brazil	Instituto Brasileiro da Qualidade e Produtividade (IBQP)
Chile	Universidad del Desarrollo
China	Tsinghua University
Colombia	Universidad de los Andes Universidad del Norte Universidad Icesi Pontificia Universidad Javeriana Cali
Costa Rica	Parque Tec
Croatia	J.J. Strossmayer University Osijek, Faculty of Economics

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
C.R. Sathyamoorthi B. Kealesitse Z. Muranda J. Pansiri R. Makgosa S. Biza-Khupe E.D.M. Odirile T. Mphela	International Development Research Centre (IDRC)	GEM Botswana Team	sathyamo@mopipi.ub.bw
T. Tsheko	Comise Presileire de Aneie às	Degária de Melle	aimara@iban.arg.br
Simara Maria de Souza Silveira Greco Adriano Luiz Antunes Eliane Cordeiro de Vasconcellos Garcia Duarte Fábio Fernandes Pereira Joana Paula Machado Mariano Mato Macedo Mario Tamada Neto Marco Aurélio Bedê Morlan Luigi Guimarães Paulo Alberto Bastos Jr Tales Andreassi Vanderlei Moroz	Serviço Brasileiro de Apoio às Micro e Pequenas Empresas - SEBRAE Fundação Getúlio Vargas - FGV- EAESP Serviço Social da Indústria - SESI - PR Universidade Federal do Paraná - UFPR Instituto de Tecnologia do Paraná - TECPAR	Rogério de Mello Bonilha - El	simara@ibqp.org.br
José Ernesto Amorós	Ministerio de Economía	Questio, Estudios de	eamoros@udd.cl
Carlos Poblete Carlos Albornoz Gianni Romani	MovistarInnova InnovaChile Corfo SOFOFA (Federation of Chilean Industry)	Mercado y Opinion Limitada	
Gao Jian Qin Lan Jiang Yanfu Cheng Yuan Li Xibao	School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua University	SINOTRUST International Information & Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd.	gaoj@sem.tsinghua.edu.cn
Rafael Augusto Vesga Raúl Fernando Quiroga Paola Andrea Garcia Liyis Gómez Ignacio Negrette Juan Guillermo Restrepo Leila Escaff Rodrigo Varela Villegas Juan David Soler Luis Miguel Alvarez Fernando Pereira Fabian Osorio	Universidad de los Andes - Center for Entrepreneurship Universidad del Norte Universidad Icesi - International Development Research Center (IDRC) Pontificia Universidad Javeriana Cali	Centro Nacional de Consultoría	rav@adm.uniandes.edu.co
Marcelo Lebendiker Petra Petry Rafael Herrera	Sistema de Banca para el Desarrollo (SBD) Banco Centroamericano de	Ipsos Marketing Research	mlebendiker@parquetec.org
Guillermo Velasquez Slavica Singer Nataša Šarlija Sanja Pfeifer Suncica Oberman Peterka Mirna Oberman	Integración Económica (BCIE) Ministry of Entrepreneurship and Crafts CEPOR SME & Entrepreneurship Policy Centre J.J. Strossmayer University in Osijek, Faculty of Economics	Puls d.o.o., Zagreb	singer@efos.hr

Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2012 Global Report

Team	Institution
Denmark	University of Southern Denmark
Ecuador	ESPOL
Egypt	The British University in Egypt
El Salvador	ESEN
Estonia	Estonian Development Fund
Ethiopia	Addis Ababa University
Finland	Turku School of Economics, University of Turku
France	EMLYON Business School
Germany	Leibniz Universität Hannover Institute for Employment Research (IAB) of the German Federal Employment Agency (BA)
Ghana	University of Ghana
Greece	Foundation for Economic & Industrial Research (IOBE)

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
Thomas Schøtt	Industriens Fond	Voxmeter	tsc@sam.sdu.dk
Torben Bager	EE - Etnisk Erhvervsfremme		
Mahdokht Sedaghat			
Kim Klyver			
Majbritt Rostgaard Evald			
Kent Wickstrøm Jensen			
Mick Hancock			
Shahamak Rezaei			
Virginia Lasio	Banco de Guayaquil	Survey Data	mlasio@espol.edu.ec
Ma. Elizabeth Arteaga	CLARO		
Guido Caicedo	Dyvenpro		
Xavier Ordeñana	ESPOL		
Ramón Villa	Mexichem Group		
Andrea Samaniego	Telconet		
	Trout and Partners		
David Kirby	Silatech	The Nielsen Company	hala.hattab@bue.edu.eg
Hala Hattab	International Development		
Hadia FakhrEldin	Research Centre (IDRC)		
	The British University in Egypt		
	The Middle East Council for Small		
	Businesses and Entrepreneurship	Osustas Englished also	
Manuel Sanchez Masferrer		Centro Emprendedor ESEN	msanchez@esen.edu.sv
Ramon Candel	Negocios (ESEN)	-	tania arra@arangufand aa
Tõnis Arro	Estonian Development Fund	Saar Poll	tonis.arro@arengufond.ee
Tõnis Mets			
Ellen Liigus			
Tiit Elenurm			
Jaan Masso			
Kaire Põder			
Urve Venesaar			
Anne Reino	International Development	Acception	taaaawwaldahanna@gmail.aam
Tassew Woldehanna	International Development Research Centre (IDRC)	Association of Ethiopian	tassew.woldehanna@gmail.com
Wolday Amha		Microfinance	
Asmelash Haile Mawerdi Abdurahman		Institutions	
Anne Kovalainen	Ministry of Employment and the	TNS Gallup Oy	anne.kovalainen@utu.fi
Jarna Heinonen	Ministry of Employment and the Economy		anne.kovalallien@utu.li
Tommi Pukkinen	Turku School of Economics,		
Pekka Stenholm	University of Turku		
Alain Fayolle	EMLYON Business School	CSA	fayolle@em-lyon.com
Emeran Nziali	EMETON BUSILIESS SCHOOL	USA	layone@em-iyon.com
Danielle Rousson			
Jean-Pierre Debourse	German Federal Employment	Zentrum fuer	sternberg@wigeo.uni-hannover.de
Rolf Sternberg Udo Brixy	German Federal Employment Agency (BA)	Evaluation und	ระกาษยายุษพายุยง.นาทะกลาทางขยา.นย
Arne Vorderwülbecke		Methoden (ZEM), Bonn	
Paul W. K. Yankson	International Development	Institute of Statistical,	pyankson@ug.edu.gh
George Owusu	Research Centre (IDRC)	Social and Economic	pyannooneug.cuu.gli
Robert D. Osei		Research (ISSER),	
Simon Bawakyillenuo		University of Ghana	
Stavros Ioannides	National Bank of Greece SA	Datapower SA	ioannides@iobe.gr
Stelina Chatzichristou			
Aggelos Tsakanikas			
00			
Team	Institution		
---------	--		
Hungary	University of Pécs, Faculty of Business and Economics		
India	Entrepreneurship Development Institute of India (EDI), Ahmedabad Institute of Management Technology (IMT), Ghaziabad Indian School of Business (ISB), Hyderabad		
Iran	University of Tehran		
Ireland	Fitzsimons Consulting Dublin City University Business School		

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
László Szerb József Ulbert Attila Varga Gábor Márkus Attila Petheő Dietrich Péter Zoltán J. Ács Siri Terjesen Saul Estrin Ruta Aidis	OTKA Research Foundation Theme number K 81527 Regional Studies PhD Programme, University of Pécs Faculty of Business and Economics Business Administration PhD Programme, University of Pécs Faculty of Business and Economics Management and Business Administration PhD Programme of the Corvinus University of Budapest Doctoral School of Regional and Economic Sciences, Széchanyi István University GEDI	Szocio-Gráf Piac-és Közvélemény-kutató Intézet	szerb@ktk.pte.hu
Sunil Shukla Pankaj Bharti Amit Kumar Dwivedi Bibek Banerjee Surinder Batra Noel Saraf	Centre for Research in Entrepreneurship Education and Development (CREED) Entrepreneurship Development Institute of India (EDI) Institute of Management Technology (IMT) Wadhwani Centre for	TNS India	sunilshukla@ediindia.org
Krishna Tanuku Santosh Srinivas Kumar Ashish Vijay Vyas	Entrepreneurship Development (WCED), ISB Department of Strategy, Enterprise and Innovation, Portsmouth Business School		
Abbas Bazargan Nezameddin Faghih Ali Akbar Moosavi- Movahedi Leyla Sarfaraz Asadolah Kordrnaeij Jahangir Yadollahi Farsi Mahmod Ahamadpour Daryani S. Mostafa Razavi Mohammad Reza Zali Mohammad Reza Sepehri Ali Rezaean	Labour Social Security Institute (LSSI)	Sedigheh Yeganegi	abazarga@ut.ac.ir mrzali@ut.ac.ir
Paula Fitzsimons Colm O'Gorman	Enterprise Ireland Forfás	IFF	paula@fitzsimons-consulting.com

Team	Institution
Israel	The Ira Centre for Business Technology and Society, Ben Gurion University of the Negev
Italy	University of Padua
Jamaica	University of Technology, Jamaica
Japan	Musashi University
Republic of Korea	Gyeongnam National University of Science and Technology (GnTech)
Latvia	The TeliaSonera Institute at the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga
Lithuania	International Business School at Vilnius University
Macedonia	University "Ss. Cyril and Methodius" - Business Start-Up Centre (BSC) Macedonian Enterprise Development Foundation (MEDF)

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
Ehud Menipaz	The Ira Center for Business	Dialogue Corporation	ehudm@bgu.ac.il
Yoash Avrahami	Technology and Society, Ben		enddmebgu.ac.n
Miri Lerner	Gurion University		
	Ministry of Industry, Trade and		
	Employment, Government of Israel		
	The Sami Shamoon College of		
	Engineering		
	MATA - Organisation for the		
	Advancement of Technology		
	Entrepreneurs		
Moreno Muffatto	Grafica Veneta Spa	Doxa	moreno.muffatto@unipd.it
Paolo Giacon	Campania Innovazione		
Michael Sheriff			
Saadat Saaed			
Masoud Mostafavi			
Sandra Dal Bianco			
Debora Vivenzi			
Girjanauth Boodraj	International Development	Market Research	gboodraj@gmail.com
Paul Golding	Research Centre (IDRC)	Services Ltd	
Michael Steele	University of Technology, Jamaica		
Vanetta Skeete			
Orville Reid			
Horace Williams			
O'Neil Perkins			
Noriyuki Takahashi	Venture Enterprise Center	Social Survey	noriyuki@cc.musashi.ac.jp
Takeo Isobe		Research Information	
Yuji Honjo		Co.,Ltd (SSRI)	
Takehiko Yasuda			
Masaaki Suzuki			
Sung-sik Bahn	Small and Medium Business	Hankook Research Co	ssbahn@gntech.ac.kr
Sang-gu Seo	Administration (SMBA)		
Kyung-Mo Song	Korea Entrepreneurship		
Dong-hwan Cho	Foundation		
Jong-hae Park	Korea Aerospace Industries, Ltd		
Min-Seok Cha	(KAI)		
Jong-bok Park	Taewan Co., Ltd.		
Marija Krumina	TeliaSonera AB	SKDS	marija@biceps.org
Anders Paalzow			
Alf Vanags			
Mindaugas Lauzikas	International Business School at	RAIT Ltd	mindaugas.lauzikas@gmail.com
Erika Vaiginiene	Vilnius University		
Aiste Miliute	Lithuanian Research Council		
Vikinta Rosinaite	Enterprise Lithuania		
Skaiste Batuleviciute			
Radmil Polenakovic	Macedonian Enterprise	Brima Gallup	radmil.polenakovik@mf.edu.mk
Tetjana Lazarevska	Development Foundation (MEDF)		mrfp@mrfp.mk
Saso Klekovski			
Aleksandar Krzalovski			
Dimce Mitreski			
Lazar Nedanoski			
Gligor Mihailovski			
Jasmina Popovska			
Fisnik Shabani			

Team	Institution
Malawi	
malawi	University of Malawi
Malaysia	Universiti Tun Abdul Razak
Mexico	Tecnologico de Monterrey
Namibia	Namibia Business School
Netherlands	Panteia/EIM
Nigeria	TOMEB Foundation for Youth Development & Sustainability
Norway	Bodø Graduate School of Business
Pakistan	Center for Entrepreneurial Development, Institute of Business Administration (IBA), Karachi

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
George Mandere	International Development	Invest in Knowledge	jmandere@.chanco.unima.mw
Benjamin Kaneka	Research Centre (IDRC)	Initiative	-
James Kaphuka	University of Malawi		
Andrew Jamali	Invest in Knowledge Initiative		
Regson Chaweza			
Monica Phiri			
Mike Dalious			
Siri Roland Xavier	Universiti Tun Abdul Razak	Rehanstat	roland@unirazak.edu.my
Mohar bin Yusof			
Leilanie binti Mohd Nor			
Noorseha binti Ayob			
Garry Clayton			
Mario Adrián Flores Castro	Tecnologico de Monterrey Campus	Alduncin y Asociados	adrian.flores@itesm.mx
Marcia Campos Serna	León		natzin.lopez@itesm.mx
Elvira Naranjo Priego	Proyectos Legado del Tecnológico		
Luz Natzin López González	de Monterrey		
Dessire Angel Rocha	Instituto para el Desarrollo		
Laura Camino Muñoz	Regional		
Adriana del Carmen			
Sánchez			
Mac Hengari	Namibia Business School	Nielsen	mac.hengari@nbs.edu.na
Albert Kamuinjo			
Jennifer Haihambo			
Nepeti Nicanor			
Jolanda Hessels	Stratus	Stratus	j.hessels@eim.panteia.nl
Peter van der Zwan			p.van.der.zwan@panteia.nl
Sander Wennekers			
André van Stel			
Roy Thurik			
Philipp Koellinger			
Ingrid Verheul			
Niels Bosma			
Rilwan Aderinto	International Development	MarketSight	graderinto@yahoo.co.uk
Tunde Popoola	Research Centre (IDRC)	Consultancy Limited	
Luqman Olatokunbo	Tomeb Foundation For Youth		
Obileye	Development & Sustainability		
Abubakar Sadiq Kasum	MarketSight Consultancy Limited		
Tomola Marshal Obamuyi			
Gry Alsos	Innovation Norway	Polarfakta	Gry.agnete.alsos@uin.no
Erlend Bullvaag	Ministry of Local Government and	i ola la la	Gry.agnete.aisos@ulli.ito
Lars Kolvereid	Regional Development		
Bjorn Willy Aamo	Ministry of Trade and Industry		
Aurora Dyrnes	Kunnskapsfondet Nordland AS		
Sarfraz A. Mian		Oasis Insight	sarfraz.mian@oswego.edu
M. Shahid Qureshi	(IBA), Karachi		Samaz.maneoswego.euu
Zafar A. Siddiqui	Institute of Business Administration		
Moeid Sultan	(IBA), Sukhur		
Syed Ali Akbar Rizvi	National University of Science and		
Akhtar Ali Qureshi	Technology (NUST), Islamabad		
Syed Asif Ali Shah	University of Engineering and		
Nadeem Mustafa	Technology (UET), Peshawar		
	GIFT University, Gujranwala		
	State University of New York		
	(SUNY), Oswego		

Team	Institution
Palestine	MAS Institute
Panama	City of Knowledge's Panama Business Accelerator
Peru	Universidad ESAN
Poland	University of Economics in Katowice
	Polish Agency for Enterprise Development
Portugal	Sociedade Portuguesa e Inovação (SPI)
	ISCTE - Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL)
Romania	Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Babeş-Bolyai University
Russia	Graduate School of Management SPbSU
Singapore	Nanyang Technological University

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
Samir Abdullah	International Development	The Palestine Central	sabdullah@mas.ps
Yousef Daoud	Research Centre (IDRC)	Bureau of Statistics	·
Tareq Sadeq		(PCBS)	
Mohammed Hittawi			
Manuel Lorenzo	The Authority of	IPSOS	mlorenzo@cdspanama.org
Manuel Arrocha	the Micro, Small and Medium		
Ramón Garibay	Enterprises		
Andrés León	IPSOS		
Federico Fernández			
Dupouy			
Jaime Serida	Universidad ESAN's Center for	Imasen	jserida@esan.edu.pe
Keiko Nakamatsu	Entrepreneurship		
Oswaldo Morales	Imasen		
Amanda Borda			
Przemysław Zbierowski	Polish Agency for Enterprise	Millward Brown SMG/	przemyslaw.zbierowski@
Anna Tarnawa	Development	KRC	ue.katowice.pl
Paulina Zadura-Lichota	University of Economics in		
Dorota Węcławska	Katowice		
Mariusz Bratnicki			
Wojciech Dyduch			
Bartłomiej J. Gabryś			
Rafał Kozłowski			
Katarzyna Bratnicka	ICOTE Institute Universitárie de	Ofl/Matria (Matria	augustamadina@ani.nt
Augusto Medina	ISCTE - Instituto Universitário de	GfKMetris (Metris – Métodos de Recolha	augustomedina@spi.pt
Douglas Thompson	Lisboa (ISCTE-IUL)		
Nuno Gonçalves		e Investigação Social, S.A.)	
João Rodrigues		5.A.)	
Claudia Drumond			
Catarina Barbosa			
António Caetano			
Susana Correia Santos			
Sílvia Fernandes Costa			
Annamária Benyovszki	OTP Bank Romania	Metro Media	annamaria.benyovszki@econ.
Tünde Petra Petru	Asociatia Pro Oeconomica	Transilvania	ubbcluj.ro
Ágnes Nagy	Babes-Bolyai University of Cluj-		
Ştefan Pete	Napoca		
Lehel - Zoltán Györfy	Metro Media Transilvania, Studii		
Dumitru Matis	Sociale, Marketing şi Publicitate S.R.L.		
Eugenia-Ana Matis			
Olga Verkhovskaya	Charitable Foundation for	Levada-Center	verkhovskaya@gsom.pu.ru
Maria Dorokhina	Graduate School of Management		
Galina Shirokova	Development		
Alexander Chepurenko	Citi Foundation		
Olga Obraztsova			
Maria Gabelko			
David Matius Gomulya	Nanyang Technological University	Joshua Research	DMGOMULYA@ntu.edu.sg
Ho Moon-Ho Ringo	NTU Ventures Pte Ltd	Consultants Pte Ltd	
Olexander Chernyshenko			
Chan Kim Yin			
Alex Lin			
Rosa Kang			
Lai Yoke Yong			
Olwen Bedford			
Marilyn Ang Uy			
Francis Wong Lun Kai			

Team	Institution			
Slovakia	Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Management			
Slovenia	Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Maribor			
South Africa	The UCT Centre for Innovation and Entrepreneurship, Graduate School of Business, University of Cape Town			
Spain	UCEIF-Cise			
Sweden	Swedish Entrepreneurship Forum			
Switzerland	School of Management (HEG-FR) Fribourg			
Taiwan	National Chengchi University			
Thailand	School of Entrepreneurship and Management (SEM), Bangkok University			
Trinidad and Tobago	Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of Business, University of the West Indies			
Tunisia	IHEC, University of Sousse			
Turkey	Yeditepe University Small and Medium Enterprises Development Organization (KOSGEB)			

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
Anna Pilkova	National Agency for Development	GfK Slovakia, s.r.o.	anna.pilkova@gmail.com
Zuzana Kovacicova	of Small and Medium Enterprises		
Marian Holienka	Mery - Jaroslav Iglar		
Jan Rehak	SLOVINTEGRA Energy, s.r.o		
Andrej Mihálik			
Jozef Komornik			
Miroslav Rebernik	Ministry of Economy	RM PLUS	rebernik@uni-mb.si
Polona Tominc	Slovenian Research Agency		
Katja Crnogaj	Institute for Entrepreneurship and		
Karin Širec	Small Business Management		
Barbara Bradač Hojnik			
Mike Herrington	The Swiss South African	Nielsen South Africa	mike.herrington@gsb.uct.ac.za
Natasha Turton	Cooperation Initiative (SSACI)		
Jacqui Kew	The Small Enterprise Development		
	Agency (SEDA)		
	The Services SETA		
Ricardo Hernández	Bank Of Santander	Instituto Opinòmetre	ricardoh@arrakis.es
Federico Gutiérrez-Solana	Spanish GEM Regional Network	S.L.	acoduras@gemconsortium.org
Alvaro Sancho González	University Antonio de Nebrija Fundación Rafael Del Pino		
Alicia Coduras			
Pontus Braunerhjelm	Svenskt Näringsliv / Confederation	Ipsos	pontus.braunerhjelm@
Per Thulin	of Swedish Enterprise		entreprenorskapsforum.se
Kristina Nyström	Vinnova EU Commission, DG Employment		
Carin Holmquist	(for EU project)		
Ulrika Stuart Hamilton		efe Dam	
Rico Baldegger	Kommission für Technologie und	gfs Bern	rico.baldegger@hefr.ch
Pius Baschera	Innovation KTI / CTI HEG -FR School of Management		
Andreas Brülhart	Fribourg (HEG-FR)		
Siegfried Alberton Andrea Huber			
Fredrik Hacklin			
Onur Saglam			
Pascal Wild			
Chao-Tung Wen	Small and Medium Enterprise	NCCU Survey Center	itwen@nccu.edu.tw
Chang-Yung Liu	Administration, Ministry of		
Su-Lee Tsai	Economic Affairs		
Yu-Ting Cheng			
Yi-Wen Chen			
Ru-Mei Hsieh			
Chao Hsien Chang			
Chin-Hsiang Tsao			
Pichit Akrathit	Bangkok University	TNS Research	gem_thailand@bu.ac.th
Koson Sapprasert		International Thailand	
Sarn Aksaranugraha			
Miguel Carrillo	International Development	Sacoda Serv Ltd	M.Carrillo@lokjackgsb.edu.tt
Henry Bailey	Research Centre (IDRC)		
Marvin Pacheco			
Faysal Mansouri	International Development	Optima	faysal.mansouri@yahoo.fr
Lotfi Belkacem	Research Centre (IDRC)		
	SILATECH, Doha, Qatar		
Fore Karadari-	-	Alcadamatra	akaradaniz@vaditana adu tr
Esra Karadeniz	Small and Medium Enterprises	Akademetre	ekaradeniz@yeditepe.edu.tr
Melisa Mete	Development Organization (KOSGEB)		
	Yeditepe University		
	loanopo oniversity		

Team	Institution
Uganda	Makerere University Business School
United Kingdom	Aston University
United States	Babson College
Uruguay	IEEM
Zambia	University of Zambia

National Team Members	Funders	APS Vendor	Contact
Rebecca Namatovu Waswa Balunywa Sarah Kyejjusa Peter Rosa Laura Orobia Diana Ntamu Arthur Sserwanga Waren Byabashaijja	International Development Research Centre (IDRC) Makerere University Business School	Makerere University Business School	rybekaz@yahoo.com
Mark Hart Jonathan Levie Erkko Autio Tomasz Mickiewicz Michael Anyadike-Danes Mohammad Shamsul Karim	Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS) Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) Welsh Assembly Goverment Hunter Centre for Entrepreneurship, Strathclyde University Invest Northern Ireland Liverpool Vision Leeds City Region Young Enterprise The Prince's Initiative for Mature Enterprise (PRIME)	IFF Research Ltd	mark.hart@aston.ac.uk
Donna Kelley Abdul Ali Marcia Cole Andrew Corbett Medhi Majbouri Candida Brush Diana Hechavarria Monica Dean Edward Rogoff Thomas Lyons Joseph Onochie Ivory Phinisee	Babson College Baruch College	OpinionSearch Inc.	dkelley@babson.edu
Leonardo Veiga Fernando Borraz Alvaro Cristiani Francis Chigunta Valentine Mwanza Mumba Moonga Nawa Mwale Chilala Hankuku Wisdom Kalenga	University of Montevideo International Development Research Centre (IDRC)	Equipos Mori Department of Development Studies	lveiga@um.edu.uy fchigunta@yahoo.co.uk





Countries participated in 2012 (69)

- Countries participated in the past
- Countries never participated

Algeria, Angola, Argentina, Austria, Barbados, Belgium, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Botswana, Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Denmark, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Estonia, Ethiopia, Finland, France, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Hungary, India, Iran, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, South Korea, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia, Malawi, Malaysia, Mexico, Namibia, Netherlands, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Palestine, Panama, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, Thailand, Trinidad & Tobago, Tunisia, Turkey, Uganda, United Kingdom, United States, Uruguay, Zambia.